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Human Smoke



        
            
                 

            

            
                ALFRED NOBEL, the
                        manufacturer of explosives, was talking to his friend the Baroness Bertha
                        von Suttner, author of Lay Down Your
                            Arms. Von Suttner, a founder of the European antiwar
                        movement, had just attended the fourth World’s Peace Conference in Bern. It
                        was August 1892.

                “Perhaps my factories will put an end to war even sooner than
                        your congresses,” Alfred Nobel said. “On the day when two army corps may
                        mutually annihilate each other in a second, probably all civilized nations
                        will recoil with horror and disband their troops.”

                

                STEFAN
                            ZWEIG, a young writer from
                        Vienna, sat in the audience at a movie theater in Tours, France, watching a
                        newsreel. It was spring 1914.

                An image of Wilhelm II, the Emperor of Germany, came on screen
                        for a moment. At once the theater was in an uproar. “Everybody yelled and
                        whistled, men, women, and children, as if they had been personally
                        insulted,” Zweig wrote. “The good-natured people of Tours, who knew no more
                        about the world and politics than what they had read in their newspapers,
                        had gone mad for an instant.”

                Zweig was frightened. “It had only been a second, but one that
                        showed me how easily people anywhere could be aroused in a time of a crisis,
                        despite all attempts at understanding.”

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL, England’s first
                        lord of the admiralty, instituted a naval blockade of Germany. “The British
                        blockade,” Churchill later wrote, “treated the whole of Germany as if it
                        were a beleaguered fortress, and avowedly sought to starve the whole
                        population—men, women, and children, old and young, wounded and sound—into
                        submission.” It was 1914.

                

                STEFAN
                            ZWEIG was at the eastern
                        front, gathering Russian war proclamations for the Austrian archives. It was
                        the spring of 1915.

                Zweig boarded a freight car on a hospital train. “One crude
                        stretcher stood next to the other,” he wrote, “and all were occupied by
                        moaning, sweating, deathly pale men, who were gasping for breath in the
                        thick atmosphere of excrement and iodoform.” There were several dead among
                        the living. The doctor, in despair, asked Zweig to get water. He had no
                        morphine and no clean bandages, and they were still twenty hours from
                        Budapest.

                When Zweig got back to Vienna, he began a pacifist play, Jeremiah. “I had recognized,” Zweig
                        wrote, “the foe I was to fight—false heroism that prefers to send others to
                        suffering and death, the cheap optimism of the conscienceless prophets, both
                        political and military who, boldly promising victory, prolong the war, and
                        behind them the hired chorus, the ‘word makers of war’ as Werfel has
                        pilloried them in his beautiful poem.”

                

                JEANNETTE
                            RANKIN OF MONTANA, the first woman to be
                        elected to the House of Representatives, voted against declaring war on
                        Germany. It was April 6, 1917.

                “I leaned over the gallery rail and watched her,” said her
                        friend Harriet Laidlaw, of the Woman Suffrage Party. “She was undergoing the
                        most terrible strain.” Almost all of her fellow suffrage leaders, including
                        Laidlaw, wanted her to vote yes.

                There was a silence when her name was called. “I want to stand
                        by my country,” Rankin said. “But I cannot vote for war. I vote no.” Fifty
                        other members of the House voted no with her; 374 voted yes. “I felt,” she
                        said later, “that the first time the first woman had a chance to say no to
                        war she should say it.”

                One of her home-state papers, the Helena Independent, called her “a dupe of the Kaiser,
                        a member of the Hun army in the United States, and a crying
                        schoolgirl.”

                

                A YOUNG PRO-WAR
                                PREACHER, Harry Emerson Fosdick, wrote a short book,
                        published by the Young Men’s Christian Association.

                War was not gallantry and parades anymore, Reverend Fosdick
                        said. “War is now dropping bombs from aeroplanes and killing women and
                        children in their beds; it is shooting by telephonic orders, at an unseen
                        place miles away and slaughtering invisible men.” War, he said, is “men with
                        jaws gone, eyes gone, limbs gone, minds gone.”

                Fosdick ended his book with a call for enlistment: “Your
                        country needs you,” he said. It was
                        November 1917.

                

                MEYER
                            LONDON, a socialist in the
                        House of Representatives, voted no to President Wilson’s second declaration
                        of war, against Austria-Hungary. It was December 7, 1917.

                “In matters of war I am a teetotaler,” said London, in a
                        fifteen-minute speech. “I refuse to take the first intoxicating
                        drink.”

                Representative Walter Chandler walked over to where London sat
                        and stood in front of him as he delivered his rebuttal.

                “It has been said that if you will analyze the blood of a Jew
                        under the microscope, you will find the Talmud and the Old Bible floating
                        around in some particles,” Congressman Chandler said. “If you analyze the
                        blood of a representative German or Teuton you will find machine guns and
                        particles of shells and bombs floating around in the blood.”

                There was only one thing to do with the Teutons, according to
                        Chandler: “Fight them until you destroy the whole bunch.”

                

                ELEANOR
                            ROOSEVELT and her husband,
                        Franklin D., the assistant secretary of the navy, were invited to a party in
                        honor of Bernard Baruch, the financier. “I’ve got to go to the Harris party
                        which I’d rather be hung than seen at,” Eleanor wrote her mother-in-law.
                        “Mostly Jews.” It was January 14, 1918.

                

                A CAPTURED
                            GERMAN OFFICER was talking
                        to a reporter for The New York
                            Times. It was November 3, 1918, and the German government
                        had asked for an armistice.

                The German officer claimed that his army was not defeated and
                        should have continued the war. “The Emperor is surrounded by people who feel
                        and talk defeat,” the officer said. He mentioned men like Philipp
                        Scheidemann, the leader of the socialists.

                New tanks were coming, the captured officer observed, and war
                        was expected between the United States and Japan. “Japan and the United
                        States would surely clash some day,” he said, “and we would then furnish
                        both sides with enormous quantities of material and munitions.” The ceding
                        of Poland and Alsace-Lorraine, the officer believed, meant social upheaval,
                        the ruin of German industry, and the impoverishment of the working class.
                        “Our enemies will have what they have desired—the complete annihilation of
                        Germany. That would be a peace due to Scheidemann.”

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL, now England’s
                        secretary of state for war and air, rose in Parliament to talk about the
                        success of the naval blockade. It was March 3, 1919, four months after the
                        signing of the armistice that ended the Great War.

                “We are enforcing the blockade with rigour,” Churchill said.
                        “It is repugnant to the British nation to use this weapon of starvation,
                        which falls mainly on the women and children, upon the old and the weak and
                        the poor, after all the fighting has stopped, one moment longer than is
                        necessary to secure the just terms for which we have fought.” Hunger and
                        malnutrition, the secretary of war and air observed, had brought German
                        national life to a state of near collapse. “Now is therefore the time to
                        settle,” he said.

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL published a
                        newspaper article. It was February 8, 1920. Churchill had a different enemy
                        now. Now his enemy wasn’t Germany, it was the “sinister confederacy” of
                        international Jewry.

                “This movement among the Jews is not new,” Churchill said. It
                        was a “world-wide conspiracy for the overthrow of civilisation and for the
                        reconstitution of society on the basis of arrested development, of envious
                        malevolence, and impossible equality.” He listed Marx, Trotsky, Béla Kun,
                        Rosa Luxemburg, and Emma Goldman as some of the malefactors. The conspiracy
                        had been, he said, the “mainspring of every subversive movement during the
                        Nineteenth Century.” It had played a recognizable part in the French
                        Revolution. All loyal Jews, he advised, must “vindicate the honour of the
                        Jewish name” by rejecting international bolshevism.

                

                AYLMER
                            HALDANE, the commander of
                        British forces in Iraq, telegraphed Winston Churchill for more troops and
                        airplanes. It was August 26, 1920.

                “Jihad was being preached with frenzied fervour by the
                        numerous emissaries from the holy cities of Najaf and Karbala,” Haldane
                        wrote. Churchill, secretary of state for war and air, sent him an
                        encouraging note: “The Cabinet have decided that the rebellion must be
                        quelled effectually, and I shall endeavour to meet all your
                        requirements.”

                Several days later, Churchill wrote Hugh “Boom” Trenchard, the
                        head of the Royal Air Force, a memo. Churchill and Trenchard were developing
                        the notion of policing the British empire from above, thereby saving the
                        cost of ground troops—a policy that became known as “air
                    control.”

                “I think you should certainly proceed with the experimental
                        work on gas bombs, especially mustard gas, which would inflict punishment on
                        recalcitrant natives without inflicting grave injury on them,” Churchill
                        wrote Trenchard. Churchill was an expert on the effects of mustard gas—he
                        knew that it could blind and kill, especially children and infants. Gas
                        spreads a “lively terror,” he pointed out in an earlier memo; he didn’t
                        understand the prevailing squeamishness about its use: “I am strongly in
                        favor of using poisoned gas against uncivilised tribes.” Most of those
                        gassed wouldn’t have “serious permanent effects,” he said.

                

                HALDANE’S MEN
                                BOMBED and strafed rebellious tribes, fired on them
                        with gas-filled shells, burned villages, and repaired the railway. The
                        official death toll on the British side was forty-seven English officers and
                        troops and 250 Indian Gurkhas. “It is impossible to give the Arab casualties
                        with any approach to exactitude,” Haldane wrote, “but they have been
                        estimated at 8450 killed and wounded.” Haldane offered his thoughts on how
                        to deal punitively with a village. “Separate parties should be detailed for
                        firing the houses, digging up and burning the grain and bhoosa, looting,
                        &c.,” he advised. “Burning a village properly takes a long time, an hour
                        or more according to size from the time the burning parties
                    enter.”

                Churchill wrote Haldane a congratulatory telegram: “During
                        these difficult months your patience and steadfastness have been of great
                        value, and I congratulate you upon the distinct improvement in the situation
                        which has been effected by you.” It was October 18, 1920.

                

                A WING
                            COMMANDER in the Royal Air Force, J. A. Chamier, published
                        his views on how best to deal with tribal rebellions.

                The commanding officer must choose the most inaccessible
                        village of the most prominent tribe, said Chamier, and attack it with all
                        available aircraft. “The attack with bombs and machine guns must be
                        relentless and unremitting and carried on continuously by day and night, on
                        houses, inhabitants, crops and cattle,” Chamier wrote. “This sounds brutal,
                        I know, but it must be made brutal to start with. The threat alone in the
                        future will prove efficacious if the lesson is once properly learnt.” It was
                        1921.

                

                FRANKLIN
                            ROOSEVELT, now a lawyer in
                        New York City, noticed that Jews made up one-third of the freshman class at
                        Harvard. He talked the problem over with Henry Morgenthau, Sr., and he went
                        to the Harvard Board of Overseers, of which he was a member. “It was
                        decided,” Roosevelt later explained, “that over a period of years the number
                        of Jews should be reduced one or two per cent a year until it was down to
                        15%.” It was about 1922.

                

                MOHANDAS
                        K. GANDHI was arrested for
                        sedition. He had written an article that began: “How can there be any
                        compromise whilst the British Lion continues to shake his gory claws in our
                        faces?” It was March 10, 1922.

                That Sunday, John Haynes Holmes, a pacifist preacher, gave a
                        sermon in the Lyric Theater in New York. “Gandhi is disciplining three
                        hundred million Indians to struggle for liberty,” Holmes said, “to throw off
                        the British yoke by nonviolence, and he is doing this with a degree of
                        success which is shaking the empire to its foundations. He would save India
                        in time, and therewith perhaps save the world.”

                Gandhi gave a statement at his trial. “I am endeavoring to
                        show to my countrymen that violent non-cooperation only multiplies evil and
                        that as evil can only be sustained by violence, withdrawal of support of
                        evil requires complete abstention from violence,” he said. He would, he told
                        the court, cheerfully submit to the highest penalty for his
                    crime.

                He was sentenced to a term of six years in jail.

                

                LORD
                            HUGH CECIL, a member of Parliament for
                        Oxford, rose to say that the Royal Air Force was unnecessarily large and
                        should be smaller. It was March 21, 1922.

                Winston Churchill, the secretary of state for war, secretary
                        of state for air, and secretary of state for the colonies, rose in reply to
                        say that the Royal Air Force should stay large. Churchill recalled the end
                        of the Great War, when British airplanes had been on the verge of bold
                        accomplishments. “Had the War lasted a few more months, or possibly even a
                        few more weeks,” he said, “there would have been operations conducted from
                        these coasts upon Berlin and in the heart of Germany, and those operations
                        would have increased in magnitude and consequence had the campaign been
                        prolonged all through the year 1919.” But those operations were not to be.
                        Peace intervened, “owing to our having run short of Germans and enemies
                        before the experiments were completed.”

                Churchill went on to make a prediction. “In an aerial war,” he
                        said, “the greatest form of defence will undoubtedly be offense.”

                

                STEFAN
                            ZWEIG was on vacation in
                        Westerland, on the island of Sylt in the North Sea. He read in the paper
                        that his friend Walter Rathenau, the foreign minister of Germany, a Jew, had
                        been assassinated. It was June 24, 1922.

                The German mark plunged in value. “Now the real witch’s
                        sabbath of inflation started,” wrote Zweig. To repair a broken window now
                        cost more than the whole house would have cost before the inflation; a
                        single book now cost more than a printing company with one hundred presses
                        had. “The unemployed stood around and shook their fists at the profiteers
                        and foreigners in their luxurious cars who bought whole rows of streets like
                        a box of matches,” he said. “Towering above them all was the superprofiteer,
                        Stinnes.”

                With the collapse of values, Zweig said, Berlin became a
                        Babylon: “Every high school boy wanted to earn some money, and in the dimly
                        lit bars one might see government officials and men of the world of finance
                        tenderly courting drunken sailors without any shame.”

                Authoritarian countermovements grew amid chaos, said Zweig.
                        Men “aligned themselves in readiness for any slogan that promised
                        order.”

                

                BOOM
                            TRENCHARD, head of the Royal
                        Air Force, was chatting with his staff. They were wondering whether it was
                        better to have lots of fighter planes, in order to fight off the enemy, or
                        lots of bombers to bomb the enemy on his home ground. Trenchard said that it
                        was really like playing football. You can’t just defend your own goal, you
                        have to go over onto the other side of the field. The nation that could
                        stand being bombed longest, he said, would win in the end. And, in his
                        opinion, “The French in a bombing duel would probably squeal before we did.”
                        It was July 9, 1923.

                

                THE
                        DAILY
                                    MAIL,
                        a conservative London paper, published a forged letter. It was October 25,
                        1924.

                The letter was purportedly signed by Grigori Zinoviev, a
                        Russian communist leader, and addressed to the Communist Party in England.
                        It appeared four days before the general election of 1924—an important race
                        for Winston Churchill, who had lost two previous campaigns.

                The letter, marked “very secret,” talked of a “successful
                        rising in any of the working districts of England.” Its prose had faintly
                        Churchillian cadences in places—there were phrases such as “strain every
                        nerve” and “pronounced its weighty word”—but with an admixture of
                        bolshevistic pastiche. “It would be desirable to have cells (nuclei?) in all
                        the units of troops, particularly among those quartered in large centres of
                        the country, and among factories working on munitions and at military store
                        depots,” the letter said. The headline in the Daily Mail was “Civil War Plot by Socialists’
                        Masters.”

                Churchill’s devoted supporter Esmond Harmsworth was the son of
                        Lord Rothermere, publisher of the Daily
                                Mail. Churchill’s close ally in Secret Intelligence,
                        Desmond Morton, first forwarded the letter from an obscure Latvian source to
                        the British Foreign Office, attesting to its authenticity.

                Moscow called the letter a “clumsy forgery” and a “crude
                        fabrication” and demanded an apology. Members of Parliament said it was a
                        “fake” and a “malicious hoax.” “How did Conservative headquarters become
                        possessed of that letter?” the Labor prime minister, Ramsay MacDonald,
                        asked. “It is a most suspicious circumstance that a newspaper and
                        headquarters of the Conservative Association seem to have had copies of it
                        at the same time as the Foreign Office, and if that is true, how can I, a
                        simple-minded, honest person who puts two and two together, avoid a
                        suspicion—I will not say conclusion—that the whole thing is a political
                        plot?”

                

                CHURCHILL AND OTHER
                                CONSERVATIVES used the Zinoviev letter to unseat Prime
                        Minister MacDonald. Churchill compared MacDonald to Alexander Kerensky, the
                        weak Russian socialist leader who allowed the Bolsheviks to
                    triumph.

                “You all know the story of Kerensky,” Churchill said in a
                        campaign speech, “how he stood there, like Mr. MacDonald, pretending that he
                        meant to do the best he could for his country, and all the time apologizing
                        behind the scenes to the wild, dark, deadly forces which had him in their
                        grip.”

                Churchill won his election. Still he couldn’t stop talking
                        about the Zinoviev letter. Conspirators and revolutionaries “of every race
                        under the sun” had assembled in Russia to plan world revolution, he asserted
                        in the Weekly Dispatch. “Everywhere
                        they have endeavoured to bring into being the ‘germ cells’ from which the
                        cancer of Communism should grow,” he wrote. “There was, therefore, nothing
                        new and nothing particularly violent in the letter of Zinoviev, alias
                        Apfelbaum, to the British Communists.” It was November 2, 1924.

                Ramsey MacDonald watched his Labor cabinet pack up. He felt,
                        he said, like a man sewn in a sack and tossed into the sea. Churchill
                        returned to power: He became chancellor of the exchequer in the new
                        Conservative government.

                He reinstated the gold standard, triggering a massive
                        depression.

                

                JOSEPH
                            GOEBBELS was working on his
                        diary-novel Michael. “I lie awake
                        for a long time and think of the quiet pale man of Nazareth,” he wrote. Then
                        Adolf Hitler came into his life.

                Hitler had just gotten out of Landesberg prison, where he’d
                        dictated Mein Kampf to his friend
                        Rudolf Hess. Goebbels finished reading Mein
                                Kampf. “Who is this man?” he asked himself. “The real
                        Christ, or only St. John?” Hitler offered Goebbels the job of editor of the
                        National Socialist newspaper, the Völkischer
                                Beobachter. They spoke at meetings together. “He jumps
                        to his feet, there he is,” Goebbels wrote in his diary in November 1925.
                        “Shakes my hand. Like an old friend. And those big blue eyes. Like stars. He
                        is glad to see me. I am in heaven.”

                A few weeks later, Goebbels saw him again. “Hitler is there.
                        Great joy. He greets me like an old friend. And looks after me. How I love
                        him! What a fellow! Then he speaks. How small I am! He gives me his
                        photograph. With a greeting to the Rhineland. Heil Hitler! I want Hitler to
                        be my friend. His photograph is on my desk.”

                A few months later still, the two of them had another meeting.
                        Goebbels gave a two-and-a-half-hour speech. “I give it all I have. They
                        rave, they shout. In the end Hitler embraces me. Tears are in his eyes. I
                        feel something like true happiness.”

                They had dinner together that evening—Hitler allowed Goebbels
                        to pay. “And even in that, what greatness!”

                Goebbels had found his man of Nazareth. “Adolf Hitler—I love
                        you.”

                

                REVEREND
                            HARRY FOSDICK gave a sermon in Geneva, at
                        the Cathedral of Saint Pierre. It was September 13, 1925, the opening of the
                        League of Nations Assembly. Reverend Fosdick had renounced his previous
                        fervent militarism; he was a well-known antiwar preacher now.

                Fosdick had seen men come freshly gassed from the trenches, he
                        said. He had heard the cries of those who wanted to die and could
                        not.

                “I hate war,” he said, “for what it forces us to do to our
                        enemies, rejoicing over our coffee cups at the breakfast table about every
                        damnable and devilish evil we have been able to inflict upon them. I hate
                        war for its results, the lies it lives on and propagates, the undying
                        hatreds that it rouses, the dictatorships that it puts in the place of
                        democracy, and the starvation that stalks after it.” Fosdick’s speech was
                        quoted in newspapers. Twenty-five thousand copies of it were printed and
                        distributed. Most people agreed with it. Most of the world was
                        pacifist.

                

                THE ROYAL AIR FORCE dropped more than 150 tons of bombs on India.
                        It was 1925.

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL visited Rome. “I
                        could not help being charmed by Signor Mussolini’s gentle and simple
                        bearing, and by his calm, detached poise in spite of so many burdens and
                        dangers,” Churchill said in a press statement. Italian fascism, he said, had
                        demonstrated that there was a way to combat subversive forces; it had
                        provided the “necessary antidote to the Russian virus.”

                “If I had been an Italian I am sure I should have been
                        entirely with you from the beginning to the end of your victorious struggle
                        against the bestial appetites and passions of Leninism,” Churchill told the
                        Romans. It was January 20, 1927.

                

                THE ROYAL AIR FORCE announced the staging of a mock bombing
                        exercise at its annual air pageant in Hendon, north of London. It was June
                        11, 1927.

                The New York Times
                        described the Hendon event in advance: “The ‘town,’ which will be built
                        largely of airplane wings, will be bombed to bits. Airplanes will drop food
                        and ammunition to the European ‘refugees,’ who will be fleeing after having
                        escaped from the citadel in which they have been ‘beleaguered’ by the town’s
                        native inhabitants.” The town was located in the imaginary land of
                        Irquestine.

                Two hundred airplanes were going to fly to the music of a song
                        called “Chick, Chick, Chick, Chick, Chicken.” When the singer sang “Lay a
                        little egg for me,” the planes were to release their bombs.

                

                A SQUADRON
                        of British planes bombed the sacred pyramid of the Nuer at Dengkur, in the
                        African Sudan. They blew up herds of cattle—“mangled flesh and splintered
                        bones crescendoed high,” reported Time magazine—and strafed Nuer tribesmen. One of
                        the tribesmen shot back, wounding a pilot in the thigh. “Not more than 200
                        Nuers were killed,” according to an official estimate. It was February
                        1928.

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL published an
                        extraordinary work of history called The
                                Aftermath, the last volume in his history of the Great
                        War. It was March 1929.

                The Great War exhibited novel features, Churchill said. For
                        example: “Whole nations were methodically subjected, or sought to be
                        subjected, to the process of reduction by famine.” But what had happened was
                        nothing compared to what would have happened if the Germans had kept
                        fighting into 1919, he said. Poison gases of “incredible malignity” would
                        have ended all resistance. “Thousands of aeroplanes would have shattered
                        their cities.”

                Instead, suddenly, the fighting ended: “In a hundred
                        laboratories, in a thousand arsenals, factories, and bureaux, men pulled
                        themselves up with a jerk, and turned from the task in which they had been
                        absorbed.”

                But those whose noncombatant labors had been interrupted would
                        get another chance, sooner or later, to carry forward their plans from 1919,
                        Churchill predicted. “Death stands at attention,” he wrote, “obedient,
                        expectant, ready to serve, ready to shear away the peoples en masse; ready,
                        if called on, to pulverise, without hope of repair, what is left of
                        civilisation. He awaits only the word of command.”

                

                BARON
                            PONSONBY, author of Falsehood in Wartime, remembered
                        something that Winston Churchill had said to him years before. “I like
                        things to happen,” he had said, “and if they don’t happen I like to make
                        them happen.” It was March 11, 1929.

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL, on a speaking
                        tour in the United States, gave a talk at the Bond Club in New York City. It
                        was October 9, 1929.

                Churchill’s speaker’s fee of $12,500 was paid by Sir Harry
                        McGowan, chairman of African Explosives and deputy chairman of Imperial
                        Chemical Industries, a British conglomerate that made fertilizer, rayon,
                        gunpowder, TNT, bombs, ammunition, and poison gas. Imperial Chemical was the
                        descendant of Alfred Nobel’s explosives company, where McGowan had started
                        working at the age of fifteen; it had agreements with munitioneers DuPont
                        and, in Germany, I. G. Farben.

                McGowan and Churchill had developed a financial intimacy:
                        McGowan was investing some of Churchill’s wealth for him in the American
                        stock market. Sir Harry had, Churchill confided to his wife, Clementine,
                        “profound sources of information.”

                During his multicity tour, Churchill praised big navies, large
                        weapons programs, and Anglo-American cooperation. “We don’t want all the
                        good people in the world to disarm while the bad ones remain heavily
                        equipped for war,” he told the Iron and Steel Institute later that month.
                        “You are the friends we would like to see most strongly armed.”

                

                MOHANDAS
                            GANDHI walked to the ocean
                        with his followers. He had decided to resist the British imperial salt
                        monopoly. “Watch, I am about to give a signal to the nation,” he said,
                        lifting a few grains of sea salt. It was April 6, 1930.

                Lord Irwin, the tall, bony viceroy of India, had already
                        arrested many of Gandhi’s disciples. He hoped he wouldn’t have to arrest
                        Gandhi, though, which would cause unrest:

                
                    I was always told that his blood pressure
                            is dangerous and his heart none too good, and I was also told a few days
                            ago that his horoscope predicts that he will die this year, and that is
                            the explanation of this desperate throw. It would be a very happy
                            solution.

                

                But Mohandas Gandhi didn’t die. He and sixty thousand
                        followers were imprisoned. In Peshawar, near India’s Northwest Frontier,
                        British troops fired on a crowd of Muslim salt protesters, killing some of
                        them. Air raids “cleaned up” the Peshawar region afterward, according to
                            The New York Times.

                

                MUSSOLINI GAVE A
                                SPEECH to a crowd of blackshirted Fascisti in
                        Florence. “Words are beautiful things,” he said, “but rifles, machine guns,
                        ships, and airplanes are more beautiful still.” It was May 17,
                    1930.

                

                MAJOR
                            FRANK PEASE, the president of the
                        Hollywood Technical Directors Association, a Red-baiting group, saw All Quiet on the Western Front, from
                        Universal Pictures. The movie, about the pointlessness and horror of the
                        Great War, was based on a novel by Erich Maria Remarque.

                Major Pease disliked the movie; he wrote telegrams to
                        President Hoover and others asking them to ban it. “Its continued uncensored
                        exhibition especially before juveniles will go far to raise a race of yellow
                        streaks, slackers and disloyalists,” he said. “Moscow itself could not have
                        produced a more subversive film.”

                When the movie wasn’t banned, Pease sent out a newsletter.
                        “The mesopotamian mongrels guilty of such a criminal film as ALL QUIET were
                        bound to over-reach themselves some time, and this looks like the time,” he
                        wrote. “THE TIME TO CALL A HALT IS NOW.”

                It was May 24, 1930.

                

                THE ASSOCIATED PRESS sent in a story from Peshawar. It was
                        August 17, 1930. “Chastened by a daily rain of bombs from British planes,
                        raiding Afridi tribesmen were reported today in full retreat to the hills of
                        the northwest frontier,” the story said. “Punishment inflicted on the
                        villages by raiding airplanes was said by officals to have had a salutary
                        effect. The disaffected sections are expected to sue for peace in a short
                        time.”

                The Times of London,
                        in an editorial, blamed the deaths of Afridi tribesmen on Gandhi’s
                        propagandists.

                

                IN BERLIN, Albert Einstein was talking
                        to reporters. It was September 18, 1930. The Hitlerites had triumphed in an
                        election. “There is no reason for despair,” Einstein said, “for the Hitler
                        vote is only a symptom, not necessarily of anti-Jewish hatred but of
                        momentary resentment caused by economic misery and unemployment within the
                        ranks of misguided German youth.” Einstein observed that during the Dreyfus
                        affair most of the population of France had become anti-Semitic. And then
                        that had changed. “I hope that as soon as the situation improves the German
                        people will also find their road to clarity,” he said.

                

                JOSEPH
                            GOEBBELS, Reichstag member
                        and party leader of Berlin, led two hundred Brownshirts into a movie
                        theater. It was December 8, 1930. Goebbels had gotten them tickets to All Quiet on the Western Front, which
                        was just out in Germany. Goebbels described Erich Maria Remarque as a
                        “slicked-over fashion-monkey.” He said that the film was a “work of filth.”
                        His recruits had weapons—briefcases full of white mice, stink bombs, and
                        sneeze powder. They would defend the honor of the two million who had died
                        in the Great War against naysayers and defeatists such as
                    Remarque.

                As the film played, and as Goebbels observed from the balcony,
                        the Brownshirts leaped up and began shouting, “Jews out! Jews out!” They
                        freed the mice and flung the stink bombs and the sneeze powder. There was
                        confusion; the film was stopped. The police arrived and emptied the
                        theater.

                The next night, the storm troopers were there again, and there
                        were more of them. Police on horses tried to keep control. Goebbels
                        denounced the film as “Jewish,” and then the protestors marched toward a
                        fancy shopping district in Berlin, the Kurfürstendamm, where there were
                        Jewish-owned businesses. “Many a proprietor of a stylish café trembled for
                        its plate-glass front as he saw the young anti-pacifists approaching,”
                        reported The New York Times, “but
                        apparently no windows were broken.” Twenty-seven people were
                        arrested.

                The next night, there was another disturbance; and the night
                        after that; and the night after that. The theater stood empty. The German
                        government, intimidated, suppressed the film. “The film of shame has been
                        banned,” wrote Goebbels in his diary. “With that action the National
                        Socialist movement has won its fight aginst the dirty machinations of the
                        Jews.” It was, he wrote, “a victory that could not have been any
                        grander.”

                Erich Maria Remarque had been watching the first
                        demonstration. “Nobody was older than twenty,” he wrote later. “None of them
                        could have been in the war—and none of them knew that ten years later they
                        would be in another war and that most of them would be dead before they
                        reached thirty.”

                

                GANDHI HAD
                                REPLACED LENIN as Churchill’s arch-nemesis. “The truth is,”
                        Churchill wrote, “Gandhi-ism and all it stands for will, sooner or later,
                        have to be grappled with and finally crushed. It is no use trying to satisfy
                        a tiger by feeding him with cat’s-meat.” It was December 11,
                    1930.

                A month later, Gandhi was released from jail. He wrote a
                        letter to the viceroy, Lord Irwin. “Dear Friend,” he said. “I have received
                        suggestions from friends whose advice I value that I should seek an
                        interview with you.”

                Irwin invited him to the palace. The two men met and talked.
                        They met again and talked—and again. Winston Churchill was disgusted. The
                        British government must, he said in a speech, dissociate itself from this
                        “weak, wrong-headed” rapprochement: “It is alarming and also nauseating to
                        see Mr Gandhi, a seditious Middle Temple lawyer, now posing as a fakir of a
                        type well known in the East, striding half naked up the steps of the
                        viceregal palace, while he is still organising and conducting a defiant
                        campaign of civil disobedience, to parley on equal terms with the
                        representative of the King-Emperor. Such a spectacle can only increase the
                        unrest in India.” It was February 23, 1931.

                

                ALBERT
                            EINSTEIN gave a speech at
                        the Ritz-Carlton in New York. There were two ways of resisting war, Einstein
                        said. In countries where there was a draft, the pacifist could refuse
                        military duty. In countries where no draft currently existed, such as the
                        United States and England, the pacifist could publicly declare that he will
                        not, under any circumstances, take up arms.

                “If only 2 percent of the men liable for war service were to
                        refuse,” Einstein said, “there would not be enough jails in the world to
                        take care of them.” He and Mrs. Einstein got an ovation. It was December 14,
                        1930.

                

                TWO
                            EDITORS from a conservative newspaper presented themselves
                        at a house on an elegant street in Munich. It was May 4, 1931. The house was
                        called the Brown House, and it was the headquarters of the National
                        Socialist German Workers Party—the Nazi Party. A steel magnate, Fritz
                        Thyssen, had helped the party leader, Adolf Hitler, buy it. There was a
                        swastika flag flapping on the roof. Guards checked the two editors’ papers,
                        and then Rudolf Hess, Hitler’s longtime private secretary, greeted them.
                        Hess had an odd look, one of the visitors thought: in his face there were
                        traces of fanaticism and “mental turmoil.” Hess was the man to whom, some
                        years earlier, Hitler had dictated the long monologues that became Mein Kampf.

                Hitler was busy for the moment, so Hess took the two of them
                        on a tour. They went down to the basement and saw the fireproof cabinets
                        that held files on half a million party members. They went back upstairs and
                        saw swastikas in the ceiling stucco and swastikas in the window glass. They
                        saw a room called the Hall of the Senators, which held sixty-one chairs
                        covered in red leather. Its ceiling was of marble, and it bore an image of
                        the party emblem done in mosaic; on its floor were “vast priceless carpets
                        into which were woven innumerable swastikas.” Hess took them up to the
                        courtroom of the National Socialist Party, which had a table in it bearing a
                        gold swastika and a figure of Christ.

                After an hour, Hess showed the guests into Hitler’s office and
                        made the introductions. Hitler was friendly. He shook hands with them and
                        said, genially, “I know the part which you and your paper play among the
                        German intelligentsia and bourgeoisie.” There were two pictures visible: a
                        small one of Mussolini on the desk and a big one of Frederick the Great, in
                        oil, on the wall. Hitler began talking—sometimes banging his fist on the
                        table, sometimes shouting—about the communists, the Vatican, the Jews,
                        Freemasonry, the press, Karl Marx, Trotsky, and the city of Berlin, which he
                        called an “international muckheap.” One of the editors, Richard Breiting,
                        had worked as a shorthand recorder in the Reichstag, the German Parliament,
                        so he was able to keep up with this stream of excited speech.

                “We can achieve something only by fanaticism,” said Hitler.
                        “We do not intend to nail every rich Jew to the telegraph poles on the
                        Munich-Berlin road,” he said. “That is nonsense.” But there will be cases of
                        hardship. “If you use a plane, there will be shavings.”

                Breiting asked who would supply the administrative brains to
                        run the government, assuming the National Socialist party came to power.
                        Hitler eyed him intently. “I am the master mind and my secret General Staff
                        will produce the brains we need,” he said. He flushed and grew angry. “Any
                        resistance will be broken ruthlessly. I will tolerate no opposition.” They
                        finished the interview.

                Afterward, Breiting wrote a summary. “Hitler exerts over his
                        staff semi-hypnotic influence,” he noted. “I was told he sometimes rages
                        around the Brown House like a madman.” He was, Breiting thought, a
                        neurasthenic, a man of enormous egotism, with a tendency toward megalomania.
                        Sometimes, it was said, he burst into tears. He left a strong impression, in
                        any case; his chin, under the centerpiece of the mustache, showed great
                        energy. “As he speaks he frequently grimaces as if he would like to crush
                        his opponent with his teeth.”

                

                RICHARD
                            BREITING returned to the
                        Brown House for a second interview. It was June 1931. Hitler began to talk
                        quickly. He talked about the need for monumental architecture and beautiful
                        cities and new highway systems, and about the decadence of art. Also about
                        the Jews in Parisian finance, and about election returns, about the Viennese
                        Jews who had interfered with his ambitions to be an architect, about the
                        imprisonment of Dr. Goebbels for slandering the Jews, about the usefulness
                        of brutality in politics, and about the ugliness of the Reichstag building.
                        The Reichstag, Hitler said, looked like a synagogue. The sooner the
                        Reichstag was burned down, he said, “the sooner will the German people be
                        freed from foreign influence.”

                The greatest threats to Germany, Hitler said, were the Soviet
                        Union and the United States. The German nation must complete its
                        reconstruction soon, “before the Soviet Union becomes a world power, before
                        the three million square miles possessed by the United States turns into an
                        arsenal for world Jewry.” That was the danger. “These two colossi are still
                        asleep,” he said. “When they wake up, that is the end of it for
                        Germany.”

                Breiting ventured to say, rather daringly, “But, Herr Hitler,
                        one should not see Jewish conspiracies behind every tree.” People have to
                        work things out, he said; nothing will be accomplished “merely by whipping
                        up anti-Semitism.”

                Hitler became indignant. The Jews wanted to divide people.
                        Henry Cabot Lodge was a tool of the Jews. Woe to Germany if the Jewish
                        “string-pullers” were to get their way. There were “forces” in New York
                        behind Governor Franklin D. Roosevelt.

                “The Jews should tremble before us,” he said, “not we before
                        them.”

                

                A GERMAN FIRE
                                ENGINEER, Hans Rumpf, wrote about the future of
                        firebombing. One hundred airplanes, he said, each carrying a few thousand
                        firebombs, might fly to the capital of an enemy country—for instance, Paris
                        or London. They might release the bombs, starting one hundred thousand fires
                        simultaneously. “The hot air rising from the innumerable centers of
                        conflagration,” Rumpf wrote, “would cause the so-called fire wind, which
                        would carry the flames to points not yet affected. And in the end, all the
                        fires would flow together into one roaring conflagration, against which no
                        firefighting organization or machinery could stand up. The city, the whole
                        city, would burn to the ground, from one single well planned and well
                        executed attack.”

                Rumpf ended his hypothetical air raid with: “Der rote Hahn hat fliegen gelernt.”
                        Which means: “The red rooster has learned to fly.” It was 1931.

                

                THE JEWISH TELEGRAPHIC AGENCY issued a news dispatch, which was
                        published in The New York Times. In
                        the Grenadier-strasse in Berlin, where there was a synagogue, a group of
                        Nazis had gathered. They had shouted “Down with Judea!” and attacked some
                        pedestrians. “A Jewish crowd soon collected, however, and offered resistance
                        to the attackers, causing their retreat.”

                The news dispatch also quoted from a plan to “rid Germany of
                        the Jews, without arousing foreign opinion.” When the Nazis came into power,
                        according to this plan—published in a legal journal—they would make lists of
                        Jewish citizens. Once the Jews were listed, their citizenship could be
                        withdrawn. “When the government is sufficiently strong it will introduce the
                        fullest measures against the Jews with the customary ‘Nazi’ severity.” It
                        was December 2, 1931.

                

                MOHANDAS
                            GANDHI arrived in England.
                        It was September 12, 1931. He chose to stay at Kingsley House, a home for
                        the poor in London’s East End. He made a live broadcast to the United States
                        on CBS radio. “I personally would wait, if need be for ages, rather than
                        seek to attain the freedom of my country through bloody means,” he said.
                        “The world is sick unto death of blood-spilling. The world is seeking a way
                        out and I flatter myself with the belief that perhaps it will be the
                        privilege of the ancient land of India to show the way out to the hungering
                        world.”

                Gandhi talked to the king and queen, the Archbishop of
                        Canterbury, the Master of Balliol, George Bernard Shaw, Lord Lothian,
                        textile workers in Lancashire, and leading Quakers.

                He wanted to talk to Winston Churchill, but Churchill declined
                        to meet him.

                

                LILIAN
                            MOWRER and her husband,
                        Edgar Mowrer, the journalist, went to a Nazi ceremony at the Sports Palace.
                        It was about 1931. The Sports Palace was, Lilian wrote, “a handsome modern
                        building with walls painted in brilliant futuristic colours.” Making their
                        way to the stage were Joseph Goebbels, “peaked, thin, limping slightly,” and
                        Rudolf Hess, “a regular Clark Gable of a man,” and Hitler himself, in a
                        trench coat and leather belt, “his lank lock of hair already straying over
                        his low forehead, a happy nervous smile on his long shapeless
                    lips.”

                Goebbels took the microphone. “Why do we trust our Führer?” he
                        asked. “We hold to our Führer because—he holds to us.” A roar rose from
                        twenty thousand throats.

                Hitler began speaking, in his odd, croaking voice. He listed
                        off the misdeeds and corruptions of the Weimar regime. He wept over the woes
                        of the people—“two fists in the air and tears pouring down each side of his
                        flabby nose,” Lilian Mowrer wrote. Then he excoriated the Jews and the
                        socialists, and he promised lower taxes, higher wages, more jobs, better
                        housing, and cheaper fertilizer. Mowrer was not swept away. “Hitler was
                        talking nonsense, making the grossest mis-statements, garbling history in a
                        voice that was raucous and suggested the parade ground, and with gestures
                        uncouth and unconvincing,” she thought. Yet when she looked around at the
                        audience, she saw not just assent but ecstacy: a young girl with lips
                        parted, eyes fixed on her leader; an old man nodding; the sixty-year-old
                        woman next to her, saying “Richtig! Richtig!” after every promise Hitler
                        made.

                

                THE CHINA CORRESPONDENT for The New York Times, Hallett Abend,
                        was having caviar and cocktails on a ship in the Shanghai harbor. Abend was
                        talking to Shiozawa Koichi, a rear admiral in the Japanese navy. It was
                        January 28, 1932.

                “At eleven o’clock tonight I am sending my Marines into
                        Chapei,” Admiral Shiozawa said, “to protect our nationals and to preserve
                        order.”

                Chapei was a part of Shanghai where more than half a million
                        people lived. Five Japanese Buddhist monks had been beaten there, one
                        fatally; in revenge, a Japanese patriotic association had burned down a
                        towel factory. Admiral Shiozawa had already warned the Chinese of drastic
                        measures if the anti-Japanese activity didn’t stop. Other countries were
                        keeping a close watch, too. President Hoover and Henry Stimson, his
                        secretary of war, had announced that they were ready to protect American
                        interests; two American destroyers were nearby, and a troop of U.S. Marines
                        had paraded, bayonets held high, in Shanghai’s international
                    zone.

                Shortly after midnight, Hallett Abend’s taxi turned a corner
                        on a side street of Chapei; its headlights lit up a group of Japanese
                        marines and British policemen crawling forward with a machine gun in tow. An
                        officer stood. “Lights out, you fools!” he called to Abend’s taxi. There was
                        a gunshot. “The officer flung both arms wildly into the air, gurgled
                        strangely, and crumpled into a quiet heap,” Abend wrote in his
                        memoir.

                More Japanese forces, on motorcycles, drove around shooting.
                        Chinese snipers from the revolutionary Nineteenth Route Army were on the
                        roofs. American and European onlookers gathered on the North Szechuen Road
                        to watch the skirmish—drinking, laughing, smoking, and eating sandwiches.
                        Abend and his coworker, Douglas Robertson, stayed up all night writing
                        dispatches to the Times, fortified
                        by the occasional absinthe frappe.

                Early the next morning, the two of them were back on the
                        scene, standing on the North Szechuen Road. They heard planes drone
                        overhead.

                
                    “The little yellow bastards are going to bomb
                            Chapei,” Robertson said in a breathless tone.

                    “Never!” I ejaculated. “Bomb 600,000 civilians in
                            an unfortified city? Not even the Japs.”

                    “Wait and see; bet you a bang-up dinner,” said
                            Robbie, that clever and canny young Scot.

                

                “Airplanes Spread Terror,” said headlines. “One Square
                        Mile Burned.” And also: “Wounded Children Lie All Night in
                    Streets.”

                Four days later, Abend was back on Admiral Shiozawa’s
                        flagship, having another cocktail. “I see your American newspapers have
                        nicknamed me the Baby-Killer,” said the admiral. He seemed embarrassed.
                        “They should give me some credit. I used only 30-pound bombs, and if I had
                        chosen to do so I might have used the 500-pound variety.”

                

                GEORGE
                            WESTERVELT, an ex-navy man,
                        now a salesman for the Curtiss-Wright airplane company, watched the bombing
                        of Shanghai from his hotel room window. Then he wrote a letter to China’s
                        wealthy minister of finance, T. V. Soong. It was March 10, 1932.

                Westervelt described the kinds of things that China could do
                        with its own fleet of bombing planes. “Such planes could easily carry
                        sufficient inflammable bombs of small weight to burn down the major portion
                        of most Japanese cities,” Westervelt wrote. He recommended that China hire a
                        seasoned American air force officer to set up a training program for Chinese
                        pilots.

                T. V. Soong liked the idea of a pilot-training program, and so
                        did the new American air attaché, Colonel Drysdale, who wrote a memo to the
                        State Department. “The presence of such a mission in China,” Drysdale wrote,
                        “will be invaluable in increasing the use here of American planes and
                        equipment.”

                

                EDGAR
                            MOWRER, in Berlin, learned
                        something troubling about the pope. Mowrer’s German assistant, Otto Brock,
                        rushed into the office and said that he’d been to a meeting of the German
                        Center party, or Zentrum. Somebody at the meeting had read aloud a letter
                        from Cardinal Pacelli in Rome.

                “The Cardinal wrote that the Pope was worried about the rise
                        of communism in Germany and advised our Party to help make Hitler
                        chancellor. The Zentrum’s leaders
                        agreed.” Brock was in tears.

                Mowrer asked if he could write about the cardinal’s
                        message.

                “No,” said Brock, “it was a secret meeting. But you will see.”
                        As Brock predicted, from then on, the Center party supported Hitler. It was
                        the summer of 1932.

                

                BENITO
                            MUSSOLINI was writing an
                        article on fascism for volume fourteen of the Enciclopedia Italiana. Pacifism was cowardice,
                        Mussolini said: “Only war brings to the highest tension the energies of man
                        and imprints the sign of nobility on those who have the virtue to confront
                        it.” It was 1932.

                

                COLONEL
                            JACK JOUETT, a veteran pilot, began
                        teaching eighty-eight Chinese cadets at a new military flying school south
                        of Shanghai. The cadets showed up at class holding copies of Charles
                        Lindbergh’s We. They were eager to
                        learn how to fly the school’s new fleet of Curtiss-Wright airplanes. It was
                        September 1932.

                

                EDGAR AND
                            LILIAN MOWRER were guests of a German
                        banker. It was late in 1932.

                “After dinner,” Edgar later wrote, “while the men, all Jews
                        but me, sat over coffee, several boasted of giving money to the Nazi party
                        at the request of Aryans like Schacht and Thyssen.”

                Mowrer was silent. The banker, whom Mowrer identified as
                        “Arnholt”—possibly Hans or Heinrich Arnhold—asked him what he was
                        thinking.

                “Merely wondering,” said Mowrer, “how the People of Israel
                        have managed to survive so many thousands of years when they obviously have
                        a strong suicidal urge.”

                The banker scoffed at Hitler’s rhetoric. “Just talk,” he
                        said.

                

                LION
                            FEUCHTWANGER, the popular
                        German novelist, gave a talk at the Hotel Commodore in New York. It was
                        February 8, 1933. There were 450,000 Jews in Germany, Feuchtwanger said, in
                        a country of sixty-five million people. And yet every day, eighteen million
                        copies of anti-Semitic papers were published: “Forty copies for an average
                        Jew per day,” he said.

                In March, while Feuchtwanger was in Switzerland, Brownshirts
                        raided his house in Berlin. They took his wife’s car and the manuscript of a
                        half-finished novel. They tore up a portrait of Eleanor Roosevelt. “I
                        believe it was their intention to shoot me, but this failed owing to my
                        absence,” Feuchtwanger said. “The unfortunate thing is that these people
                        have taken the former wild speeches of Hitler too literally.”

                

                THE REICHSTAG caught fire. It was
                        February 27, 1933.

                A young Dutch-born bricklayer, Marinus van der Lubbe, a
                        professed communist, was found shirtless on the scene and arrested. Hitler
                        went in the middle of the night to the offices of the Völkischer Beobachter, where an assistant told
                        him to come back during business hours. “Are you mad?” said Hitler. “Don’t
                        you realize that an event of incalculable importance is actually now taking
                        place?” He and Goebbels worked the rest of the night getting the next issue
                        ready.

                Civil rights in Germany were suspended. “Goering let loose his
                        hordes, and at one blow all justice in Germany was smashed,” wrote Stephan
                        Zweig.

                

                THE NEW YORK TIMES REPORTED, on page one, that the
                        Central Union of German Citizens of the Jewish Faith, a group with sixty
                        thousand members, had issued a statement saying that the reports of
                        atrocities by Nazis against Jews were “pure invention.” It was March 25,
                        1933.

                Anti-Semitism existed, and it was, the society said, a matter
                        of grave concern, but it was a domestic affair. “Let us take an energetic
                        stand against everybody attempting criminally to influence the shaping of
                        Germany’s future through foreign newspapers.”

                

                JAMES G.
                            MCDONALD, chairman of the Foreign Policy
                        Association of the United States, had dinner in Berlin with Ernst
                        Hanfstaengel, Hitler’s friend. It was April 1, 1933. McDonald told
                        Hanfstaengel that he’d just had a meeting with Hitler, in which he’d said
                        that Hitler’s anti-Semitic policies were injuring Germany. Hitler had said,
                        “The world will yet thank us for teaching it how to deal with the
                        Jews.”

                Hanfstaengel sipped his wine. He was an ardent booster of
                        Aryanism, but he was a dark-haired man, not particularly
                        Nordic-looking—except that, as he had been heard to say, his underarm hair
                        was quite blond. “Do you know,” he said to McDonald, “that we have arranged
                        to wipe out the entire Jewish population in the Reich? Each Jew has a Storm
                        Trooper assigned to him. Everything is ready and can be done in a single
                        night.”

                McDonald walked back through the Tiergarten to his hotel.
                        Lovers were sitting on park benches. “I felt as if I’d had a nightmare,” he
                        wrote.

                

                LILIAN
                            MOWRER heard Chancellor
                        Hitler say, in a speech, “Our enemies will be brutally and ruthlessly
                        exterminated.” Mowrer thought she must have misheard. The leader of a great
                        nation wouldn’t say something like that. She looked up the official text.
                        Yes: Brutal und rücksichtslos
                            ausgerottet. And then the nighttime disappearances and
                        beatings began, the murders, she wrote, “of hundreds and hundreds done in
                        cold blood by sexual sadists and lads not out of their teens, upon orders by
                        their ‘party superiors.’” Then the yellow signs went up on Jewish-owned
                        stores. At the Kaufhaus des Westens, a department store, Mowrer, showing her
                        American passport, pushed past the linked arms of the storm troopers. The
                        place was almost empty. The only customers were foreigners protesting the
                        boycott. “The salesfolk stood around, silent and miserable. I wanted to buy
                        up everything in sight,” she said. “All morning I shopped in Jewish places.”
                        It was April 1933.

                How could this be happening? she wondered. The country was
                        calm. The streets were clean. The traffic flowed smoothly.

                “Germans are among the most likable people in Europe and
                        surely average no greater number of bullies and sadists than any other
                        nation,” she wrote. “The difference was that Hitler’s régime was built on
                        sadists and bullies, from the top down.”

                

                SAMUEL
                            FULLER, an executive in the
                        rayon-fiber business, wrote a memo to his old friend Franklin Roosevelt, now
                        president of the United States. It was May 8, 1933.

                Roosevelt had asked Fuller, when he visited Berlin, to find
                        out the answers to some questions about Hitler. One of the questions was:
                        “Is he going to keep the Jews out for good? Or is he just punishing them
                        temporarily to make them be good?”

                “Regarding the Jews,” wrote Fuller to Roosevelt, “Dr. Schacht
                        stated that the Jewish situation had been much exaggerated in the American
                        press.” Nobody had been killed, Schacht—the head of the German bank—told
                        Fuller: No Jews had suffered personal violence. Schacht described the
                        situation this way:

                
                    A large number of Jews entered Germany
                            after the War. These had joined, to a great extent, the Communists’
                            party. The Government for the past 10 years had been filled, in the
                            bureaucratic places to a very large extent by Jews. The majority of
                            places were held by Jews. Germany is not a Jewish nation. The appointed
                            judges of the Courts were largely Jewish. The ministry of education was
                            filled with Jews. The Chief of Police of Berlin was a Jew. 2600 out of
                            the 3200 Berlin lawyers were Jews. In the University of Berlin 3 per
                            cent to 4 per cent of the student body were Jews, and 40 per cent of the
                            professors were Jews. Germany felt that this was wrong; and they put
                            them out and filled their places, or places where necessary, with
                            Gentiles.

                

                Fuller had another conversation with Schacht later on.
                        “If I were a Jew I would be concerned,” Schacht told him then. “I am not a
                        Jew and I am concerned.”

                Roosevelt passed the “extremely interesting” letter on to
                        Cordell Hull, his secretary of state. “Please let me have it back when you
                        and the Chief of the Division of Western Europe have read it,” he
                        wrote.

                

                GOEBBELS
                            STOOD at a swastika-bedecked rostrum on the Unter den
                        Linden, a wide, tree-lined street in Berlin running past the University and
                        the State Opera House. He said: “The age of extreme Jewish intellectualism
                        has now ended.” He threw a book into a fire.

                “It was like burning something alive,” Lilian Mowrer said.
                        “Then students followed with whole armfuls of books, while schoolboys
                        screamed into the microphone their condemnation of this and that author, and
                        as each name was mentioned the crowd booed and hissed.” Lion Feuchtwanger’s
                        books, which had already been banned from stores, went into the flames, as
                        did books by Albert Einstein, Thomas Mann, Brecht, Lenin, Marx, Engels,
                        Zinoviev, Heine, Emil Ludwig, Helen Keller, Upton Sinclair, and Jack London.
                        Bertha von Suttner’s pacifist novel Lay Down Your
                                Arms was condemned as “un-German” and burned. All Quiet on the Western Front got
                        the most booing. Stefan Zweig’s books were nailed to a pillory as well as
                        burned. Pacifism masked a “seeping poison,” one speaker said. It was May 10,
                        1933.

                Goebbels said: “Brightened by these flames our vow shall be:
                        the Reich and the Nation and our Führer: Adolf Hitler. Heil!
                    Heil!”

                

                HARRY
                            EMERSON FOSDICK, now the minister of
                        Riverside Church in New York, organized a petition of protest. It was May
                        1933. “We acknowledge the grievous provocations which have led to the German
                        revolution,” Fosdick’s petitioners said, “especially the condemnation of
                        unborn generations of German children to economic servitude by the terms of
                        the peace.” Nevertheless, the time had come to speak. “Herr Hitler for years
                        has preached relentless hatred against Jews,” they said. “One of the
                        fundamental doctrines of the Nazis, explicity acknowledged by them, is that
                        the Jews are poisonous bacilli in the blood of Germany to be stamped out
                        like a plague.” That belief they were now putting into practice:

                
                    Systematically they are prosecuting a “cold
                            pogrom” of inconceivable cruelty against our Jewish brethren, driving
                            them from positions of trust and leadership, depriving them of civil and
                            economic rights, deliberately condemning them, if they survive at all,
                            to survive as an outlawed and excommunicated people, and threatening
                            Jews with massacre if they so much as protest.

                

                One thousand two hundred American clergymen signed the
                        protest; their names filled most of a page of The
                                New York Times.

                At a dinner of the Federal Council of Churches a few months
                        later, Reverend Fosdick said: “Nothing so barbarous as the deliberate
                        persecution of a whole race by the official powers of a nation has been
                        heard of in Western civilization in a thousand years.”

                There was a German professor of theology at the dinner, a
                        certain Julius Richter, an oil-on-the-waters man. The wave of German
                        anti-Semitism would pass, he said. “Chancellor Hitler is a very clever, a
                        very sound man,” Richter said. “He doesn’t drink; he doesn’t smoke; he leads
                        an exactly moral life. We can rely on Hitler not to let such things go on
                        for a long time.”

                

                EDGAR
                            MOWRER—who had just won the
                        Pulitzer Prize for an anti-Nazi book, Germany
                                Puts the Clock Back—received a politely worded threat.
                        The German government didn’t like his opinions and wanted him to resign from
                        his post as president of the Foreign Press Association. Mowrer went to see
                        Goebbels, who sat in a large room decorated with orchids in Chinese vases.
                        “We will not have you swindle the public,” Goebbels said.

                A well-known newspaperman, Dr. Goldmann—unwell, not young,
                        with a humpback—was arrested. Mowrer felt that Goldmann wouldn’t live long
                        in a prison camp. He offered to resign from the presidency if Goldmann was
                        released. The Nazis agreed.

                Four detectives began tracking the Mowrers’ movements. One
                        night, the couple noticed a group of storm troopers with a searchlight
                        outside their house—clearly, it was time to leave Berlin. Edgar and Lilian
                        still went out for walks, though, admiring the trees on the Tiergarten, the
                        five elms where the rabbits played, the island where the cygnets hatched
                        every year. They tried not to talk about German politics. “Think of their
                        love of flowers,” said Edgar Mowrer. “If ever there is a judgment on these
                        people I hope someone will get up and say, ‘But remember their
                        window-boxes.’”

                Edgar was informed that the German government could no longer
                        guarantee his safety. He left for France. Lilian packed and joined him
                        there. “Nowhere have I had such lovely friends as in Germany,” she wrote
                        afterward. “Looking back on it all is like seeing someone you love go
                        mad—and do horrible things.”

                

                JAMES G.
                            MCDONALD, of the Foreign Policy Association, gave
                        a speech at the Chatauqua festival. A reporter was there for The New York Times and covered it. It
                        was July 10, 1933. McDonald didn’t say what Hitler and Hanfstaengel had told
                        him about their plan for the Jews. But he did say that the attempts on the
                        part of Nazi apologists to deny that Jews were being cruelly treated were an
                        “insult to the intelligence.” “The Nazis believe the myth of the supremacy
                        of the Aryan race, and are determined to crush Jewish economic life,” he
                        said. Hitler had exploited prejudices and postwar humiliations: “The war,
                        the Versailles treaty and the treatment of Germany since the war have made
                        Germans turn to new leaders,” he said. “Hitlerism is in a very real sense a
                        gift of the Allies and the United States.”

                

                HITLER
                            MADE JULIUS
                            STREICHER the party leader
                        of Franconia. Streicher, a paranoiac with a shaved head, was the publisher
                        of two newspapers, one of which was the luridly anti-Semitic tabloid Der Stürmer, or “The
                    Stormer.”

                Streicher ordered the arrest of several hundred Jews, mostly
                        shopkeepers, in Nuremberg, the capital of Franconia. “They were made to
                        march in procession through the streets, flanked on either side by storm
                        troopers and treated with derision and brutality,” reported The Times of London. Some were
                        imprisoned awaiting ransom; some were “set to plucking the grass out of a
                        field with their teeth.” The Times
                        said: “As the need for a pretext to ‘confiscate’ funds is believed to have
                        played a powerful part on the last occasion, a repetition of these
                        occurrences is feared by many people in the near future.” It was July
                        1933.

                Streicher’s newspaper ran an article called “The Dead Jew.” It
                        was about a man who committed suicide after being persecuted. “We would
                        raise no objection at all if all his racial equals were to make their adieu
                        in the same manner,” the article said.

                

                MAJOR
                            JAMES DOOLITTLE, the American flying ace,
                        was in China demonstrating airplanes for Curtiss-Wright. It was summer 1933.
                        Doolittle did stunts for the mayor of Shanghai and a crowd of seventy-five
                        thousand in his Curtiss Hawk, and afterward the Nanking government ordered
                        thirty-six Hawks, the company’s biggest order that year. “We sold 24 Hawks
                        to the Turkish Government last fall,” said T. P. Wright, Curtiss-Wright’s
                        president, “and several are in service in South America.”

                Major Doolittle had also been talking about Hawk airplanes
                        with Ernst Udet, the blue-eyed German flying ace—the two of them flew at
                        American air shows together. Udet fancied the new Curtiss Hawk II; he’d seen
                        it at the air races in Cleveland. It was a good stunt plane and a good
                        dive-bomber. But it was expensive.

                

                IN NUREMBERG, storm troopers took a
                        nineteen-year-old girl to a cabaret. They cut off her hair, shaved her head,
                        and tied a placard around her neck. “I have offered myself to a Jew,” said
                        the placard. It was August 13, 1933.

                A group of tourists who witnessed the scene wrote a letter to
                        the authorities in which they said that while they had no desire to
                        interfere in the municipal affairs of the city, incidents of that kind could
                        not but be disgusting to all foreign visitors. Some weeks later, the girl
                        was pronounced mentally ill and taken to an asylum.

                

                JOSEPH
                            STALIN, the leader of
                        Russia, ordered operatives to remove all the stores of food from farming
                        towns in the Ukraine. Millions of people had no bread—they ate field mice,
                        insects, husks, and dead children. It was 1933.

                A Russian-born American couple visited a Ukrainian village.
                        “We are all dying of starvation,” a villager told them. “They want us to
                        die. It is an organized famine. There never has been a better harvest, but
                        if we were caught cutting a few ears of corn we would be shot or put in
                        prison and starved to death.” It was August 1933.

                

                DAVID
                            LLOYD GEORGE, who had been prime minister
                        of England during the Great War, gave a speech. The English government
                        should not bully Germany, Lloyd George said. “I know there have been
                        horrible atrocities in Germany and we all deplore and condemn them,” he
                        said. “But a country passing through a revolution is always liable to
                        ghastly episodes owing to the administration of justice being seized here
                        and there by an infuriated rebel.” If the Allied powers managed to achieve
                        the overthrow of Nazism, what would take its place? “Extreme communism,”
                        said Lloyd George. “Surely that cannot be our objective.”

                It was September 22, 1933.

                

                ERNST
                            UDET, the German pilot, was
                        in Buffalo, New York, shopping for dive-bombers. He told the sales manager
                        at Curtiss-Wright that he wasn’t sure he could afford to buy a Hawk II. “But
                        Mr. Udet,” said the sales manager, “the money has already been lodged with
                        our bank.”

                Hermann Goering, German aviation minister and president of the
                        Reichstag, had bought two Curtiss-Wright Hawk IIs for Udet. Udet rejoined
                        the Luftwaffe—the German air force—and with his help Junkers Aviation began
                        designing a German plane called the Ju 87, the Stuka. It was even better at
                        dive-bombing than the Curtiss Hawk II.

                

                FREDERICK
                            BIRCHALL, Berlin
                        correspondent for The New York
                            Times, published an article about Germany’s preparations
                        for war. It was October 8, 1933.

                Birchall quoted from a recent book by Ewald Banse, a teacher
                        at the Technical High School in Brunswick, Germany. The book was called
                            Wehrwissenschaft—“Military
                        Science.” War was no longer a matter of marches and medals, Banse observed:
                        “It is gas and plague. It is tank and aircraft horror. It is baseness and
                        falsehood. It is hunger and poverty.” And because war is so horrible, Banse
                        said, it must be incorporated into the school curriculum and taught as a new
                        and comprehensive science: “The methods and aims of the new science are to
                        create an unshakable belief in the high ethical value of war and to produce
                        in the individual the psychological readiness for sacrifice in the cause of
                        nation and state.”

                Birchall’s eye rested on one passage in particular of Banse’s
                        book. In it, Banse charged that in the Great War the French had attempted to
                        use bacteriological warfare against German crops and livestock. The plan had
                        failed, Banse said, but the technique deserved investigation. For a weak
                        nation that has been disarmed and rendered defenseless, such as postwar
                        Germany, biological warfare—tainting drinking water with typhus germs and
                        spreading plague using infected rats—“is undoubtedly the given weapon.” The
                        League of Nations had forbidden such techniques, but when it came to
                        national survival, “every method is permissible to stave off the superior
                        enemy and vanquish him.”

                

                AT AN AIR
                            PAGEANT on Long Island, Ernst Udet did amazing stunts in
                        his red and silver Flamingo, and a fleet of U.S. Army airplanes bombed and
                        strafed a papier-mâché village. The demolished village was named
                        “Depressionville.” It was October 8, 1933.

                

                THE GERMAN GOVERNMENT ordered all
                        copies of Ewald Banse’s book confiscated. It was October 20,
                    1933.

                “Single sentences and passages from it have been quoted abroad
                        to throw suspicion on Germany’s peaceable disposition,” said an official
                        pronouncement. “Professor Banse’s ideas do not correspond with those of the
                        Government and should be regarded merely as his private opinion.”

                The government also banned two songs: “We Shall Fight and
                        Conquer France” and “German People, to Arms!”

                

                AN
                            EXECUTIONER in white gloves and a top hat strapped Marinus
                        van der Lubbe, convicted arsonist of the Reichstag, to a guillotine. His
                        head fell into a basket of sawdust. It was January 10, 1934.

                

                ELEANOR
                            ROOSEVELT addressed the
                        ninth annual Congress on the Cause and Cure of War. There were five hundred
                        delegates at the congress, representing eleven organizations with a combined
                        membership of eleven million people. “Any one who thinks, must think of the
                        next war as suicide,” Eleanor Roosevelt said. “How deadly stupid we are that
                        we can study history and live through what we live through, and complacently
                        allow the same causes to put us through the same thing again!” It was
                        January 17, 1934.

                A week later, Clark H. Woodward, a rear admiral in the U.S.
                        Navy, gave a fierce speech before the assembled delegates at the ninth
                        annual meeting of the Women’s Patriotic Conference on National Defense, a
                        promilitary, anti-immigrant umbrella group. Admiral Woodward had won many
                        medals and fought in many wars—he had helped crush insurrections in
                        Nicaragua and Haiti.

                Subversive propaganda in favor of disarmament was being
                        “viciously pushed by radical aliens, foreign-born and un-American
                        Americans,” Admiral Woodward said to the patriotic women. “Proselytizing
                        parlor pinks and treacherous paid lobbyists have renewed their sinister,
                        intensive and destructive efforts to convince our statesmen by insidious
                        appeal and academic reasoning of the futility of further
                        preparedness.”

                

                A BRITISH
                            SPY, Frederick Winterbotham, visited Hitler in his new
                        quarters in the Reich Chancellery in Berlin. It was February
                    1934.

                Winterbotham, a tall, sandy-haired Englishman, mounted the
                        grand stairway with his host Alfred Rosenberg, a racial theorist. Men in
                        black uniforms stood at attention, touching their holstered guns with white
                        gloves. The visitors entered a large office hung with tapestries and blue
                        brocade curtains. Hitler was sitting behind his desk, wearing a brown shirt
                        and a black tie.

                “Maybe Hitler wasn’t used to people smiling broadly at him,
                        but it seemed to work for he stood up, out shot a hand, not in the now
                        familiar salute but to be shaken in the ordinary civilised way,”
                        Winterbotham wrote. He was struck by Hitler’s eyes. “Many people have
                        commented on their apparent hypnotic quality but to me they looked as if
                        they stood out a bit too far from their sockets. Nevertheless, they were
                        friendly.”

                Hitler told Winterbotham that the Luftwaffe would be up to
                        five hundred aircraft by the early part of 1935. “There should be only three
                        major powers in the world,” Hitler said, “the British Empire, the Americas,
                        and the German Empire of the future.” The British empire would oversee
                        Africa and India, while Germany would control Russia. The fate of China
                        would be determined in time. Versailles was dead. “All we ask,” Hitler said,
                        “is that Britain should be content to look after her empire and not
                        interfere with Germany’s plans of expansion.”

                Winterbotham then said that he gathered Hitler disliked the
                        communists. Hitler’s neck went red. “His eyes started to bulge even further;
                        he stood up and, as if he was an entirely different personality, he started
                        to yell in his high-pitched staccato voice, which now echoed round the walls
                        of the great room; he addressed not three people but an imaginary three
                        thousand,” wrote Winterbotham. Then Hitler finished, smiled, and sat down.
                        “That is what I think of the Communists,” he said.

                

                SOME
                            QUTAIBI TRIBESMEN attacked a
                        caravan in southern Yemen, a country that was part of the British empire. It
                        was March 1934. Group Captain Charles Portal, of the Royal Air Force,
                        believed that the tribesmen ought to be disciplined. He had his fliers drop
                        leaflets, asking the tribesmen to pay a fine and hand over the wrongdoers.
                        “Until you have complied with the terms your villages and fields may be
                        bombed or fired on at any time by day or night, and you are particularly
                        warned not to touch any bombs that do not go off, as if you do so you will
                        probably get killed,” said the leaflets.

                The Qutaibi did not comply. Portal ordered his pilots to drop
                        “a few small bombs in the principal villages” and also to bomb heavily the
                        houses of the sheikh and his uncle. They used delayed-action bombs in order
                        to keep the villagers away from their houses—a technique known as “inverted
                        blockade.” After two months of bombing, the Qutaibis accepted the terms.
                        Three tribesmen were killed, Portal wrote, when they tried to take apart a
                        delayed-action bomb; none of his own men was injured. “The most remarkable
                        thing, and the most satisfactory,” he said, “is the way the tribe came back
                        into the fold with practically no ill-will.”

                

                H. C. ENGELBRECHT, author of Merchants of Death, a bestseller about arms
                        dealers, spoke at a conference of the American Academy of Political and
                        Social Science. “Armament is an industry that knows no politics, friends,
                        right or wrong—but only customers,” Engelbrecht said. “If you can pay, you
                        can buy.”

                The French arms company Schneider had recently sold four
                        hundred tanks to Hitler’s Germany, Engelbrecht observed; the company
                        disguised the sale by shipping the tanks via the Netherlands. The Germans
                        had also ordered sixty airplanes from Vickers, the British maker of
                        bombers.

                “In every war,” said Engelbrecht, “the armament maker who
                        sells internationally is arming a potential enemy of his own country—and
                        that, practically, if not legally, is treason.”

                It was April 14, 1934.

                

                CLARENCE
                            PICKETT, the executive
                        secretary of the American Friends Service Committee, met Rabbi Leo Baeck in
                        Berlin. The American Friends Service Committee was a Quaker relief
                        organization founded by a Haverford College professor named Rufus Jones; it
                        had fed millions of people in Germany, Austria, Poland, and Russia during
                        the famines in the late teens and early twenties. Pickett, an
                        undemonstrative man with a crooked smile, was in Europe “to explore whether
                        we could do anything to help prevent the barbaric treatment of Jews and to
                        assist the immigration of those who were so fortunate as to be able to go to
                        the United States or elsewhere.” It was May 1934.

                Rabbi Baeck said he didn’t want to visit Pickett at the
                        Friends Center in Berlin because he didn’t want the center to be marked as a
                        Jewish hideout; they met instead in a black-curtained room in the American
                        Women’s Club.

                Since before the time of Christ, Baeck said, Jews had been a
                        part of what was now Germany. The synagogue at Worms had recently celebrated
                        its nine hundredth anniversary of continuous existence. The Jews loved
                        Germany, and they wanted to stay there.

                Baeck told Pickett that there had been an upsurge of religious
                        feeling as a result of the racism and persecution. The rabbi’s congregation
                        used to number fifty or sixty people; now he held four separate services
                        every Saturday. The crowds came, even though when they left the synagogue
                        they were sometimes pelted with stones. It was a good time to be a rabbi, he
                        said.

                Baeck told Pickett that his constant theme was: “Let no drop
                        of bitterness enter your hearts, to defile them.”

                

                REINHARD
                            HEYDRICH, head of the
                        intelligence branch of the German secret police, read a position paper
                        prepared for him concerning Jewish policy. It was May 24, 1934.

                “The aim of Jewish policy must be the emigration of all Jews,”
                        the paper said. Jewish “assimilationists”—those who wanted to live their
                        lives as Germans within Germany—should be discouraged; while Zionists—those
                        who wanted to emigrate to Palestine—should be encouraged, according to the
                        memo. “It is the aim of the State Police to support Zionism and its
                        emigration policy as fully as possible”:

                
                    Every authority concerned should, in
                            particular, concentrate their efforts in recognizing the Zionist
                            organizations and in supporting their training and emigration endeavors;
                            at the same time the activities of German-Jewish groups should be
                            restricted in order to force them to abandon the idea of remaining in
                            Germany.

                

                In this way, Germany would eventually become a country
                        “without a future for the Jews.”

                Heydrich, a blond man with a high forehead and long, spidery
                        fingers, began helping Zionist organizations set up agricultural-training
                        centers, so that Jews would know how to farm when they reached
                        Palestine.

                

                PRESIDENT
                            ROOSEVELT was using money
                        from the National Recovery Act—part of the New Deal—to build thirty-two
                        warships. He visited Pearl Harbor, a naval outpost near Honolulu: Hawaiian
                        singers sang traditional songs for him, and three hundred Japanese girls
                        danced by lantern light in a historical pageant at the Iolani Palace. In a
                        speech, the president praised the richness of Hawaii’s past, the cleanliness
                        of Hawaii’s houses, and the efficiency and spirit of Hawaii’s American
                        military forces, of which he was commander in chief. “These forces must ever
                        be considered an instrument of continuing peace,” he said. He thanked
                        everyone and expressed a wish to return someday. “I say to you ‘Aloha’ from
                        the bottom of my heart.” It was July 28, 1934.

                In the Japan
                            Advertiser, General Kunishiga Tanaka, a former military
                        attaché to Washington, wrote a response to Roosevelt’s visit. “President
                        Roosevelt has traveled to Hawaii, and there inspected the Pearl Harbor base,
                        which is regarded as the centre of American offensive operations in the
                        Pacific,” said General Tanaka, “telling the world in loud tones its
                        equipment is perfect.” This event was accompanied, the general noted, by
                        news of the Navy League’s lobbying in favor of vast American fleets and by
                        the creation of U.S. air bases in Alaska and the Aleutian Islands. “Such
                        insolent behavior makes us most suspicious. It makes us think a major
                        disturbance is purposely being encouraged in the calm Pacific. This is
                        greatly regretted.”

                

                GEORGE
                            SELDES, a muckraking
                        journalist, published an article in Harper’s
                                Magazine. “It is an axiom that nations do not arm for
                        war but for a war,” Seldes wrote.
                        He had just interviewed an official at the Navy League, a pro-preparedness
                        pressure group.

                “Do you accept the naval axiom that you prepare to fight a
                        specific navy?” Seldes had asked the Navy League man.

                “Yes,” the man said.

                “Do you contemplate a fight with the British navy?” Seldes
                        asked.

                “Absolutely, no,” said the man.

                “Do you contemplate war with Japan?”

                “Yes.”

                It was October 1934.

                

                STUDENTS IN THE
                                NEW U.S. Air Corps Tactical School, at Maxwell Field,
                        Alabama, were learning how to wage modern war with airplanes. It was the
                        1934–35 school year.

                “Sound strategy requires that the main blow be struck where
                        the enemy is weakest,” the students learned. “Large urban populations and
                        high standards of living broaden the possible range of dislocation and add
                        length to the lever that an air force can apply against morale.”

                Water supplies were particularly vulnerable: “Reservoirs can
                        be gassed, aqueducts cut, and dams or pumping facilities destroyed. The
                        effects upon the civil population will be immediate and far reaching:
                        sanitation will fail and the possibility of epidemic disease will become
                        acute.”

                

                THE BOEING CORPORATION, in Seattle, sold three two-engine
                        airplanes to Germany. These planes “might be regarded by a military expert
                        as admirable potential bombers,” said The New
                                York Times; German engineers were studying them
                        attentively. Pratt and Whitney maintained a Berlin office—BMW had bought the
                        rights to build one of Pratt and Whitney’s engines. The Sperry Corporation,
                        maker of bombsights and gyroscopic stabilizers, had a patent-sharing
                        agreement with a German company, Askania.

                In Berlin, an American commercial attaché wrote that American
                        manufacturers were selling Germany crankshafts, cylinder heads, control
                        systems for anti-aircraft guns, and components sufficient to make about a
                        hundred planes a month. There were, the attaché reported, orders outstanding
                        to equip two thousand planes.

                It was May 1934.

                

                PRESIDENT
                            ROOSEVELT placed Wake
                        Island, a reef in the Pacific Ocean, under the administration of the U.S.
                        Navy. He granted Pan Am Airways a permit to build runways on Wake Island,
                        Midway Island, and Guam. It was March 14, 1935.

                The Japanese military authorities were not pleased; the
                        airports could become military bases, they said. “The islands are natural
                        ‘aircraft carriers,’ affording enemy squadrons ideal places from which to
                        operate,” wrote a retired commander in chief in the Japanese navy. “Should
                        they be occupied by an enemy they would at once endanger our
                        defense.”

                

                CLARENCE
                            PICKETT, the Quaker, and
                        Harry Emerson Fosdick, the antiwar preacher, had tea in the Oval Office with
                        President Roosevelt. It was April 1935. The navy was proposing to hold war
                        games and maneuvers near the Aleutian Islands and Midway Island. The islands
                        were far away from the United States and close to Japan. “This was,” so it
                        seemed to Pickett, “a deliberate effort to flex our muscles where Japan
                        could see us, to warn her of what she might expect if she did not respect
                        our power.”

                Roosevelt was a talker; he told stories, he reminisced. “We
                        began to wonder whether we would get our concern expressed,” Pickett wrote.
                        Eventually, Reverend Fosdick broke in and warned of the danger of large
                        naval maneuvers so near Japan. Roosevelt said that one of his Harvard
                        classmates had been Japanese, and this Japanese classmate had talked about
                        conquest. “We did not succeed in persuading him to move the navy’s
                        playground,” Pickett said.

                

                ONE
                            HUNDRED and sixty American ships and 450 American
                        airplanes began war games in the Pacific—the largest war games in American
                        history. It was April 1935. The Fellowship of Reconciliation, a peace group,
                        sent an open letter to the people of Japan, with a copy to President
                        Roosevelt: “We desire to convey to you,” the letter said, “the knowledge
                        that many thousands of our citizens, especially those who constitute the
                        membership of our churches and our synagogues, have protested against the
                        holding of these maneuvers.”

                Japan and the United States had maintained friendly relations
                        for eighty-one years, the letter said. “Multitudes of our people, whether
                        connected with the institutions of religion or not, oppose these maneuvres
                        and join us in spirit as we convey to you our assurances of continued and
                        undiminished friendship.” Rufus Jones, John Haynes Holmes, and fifteen
                        others signed the letter.

                Admiral Kanji Kato, former Japanese chief of staff, said that
                        the American naval manifestation was like “drawing a sword before a
                        neighbor’s house.”

                “That’s too damn bad,” said Admiral Standley, the chief of
                        naval operations of the United States.

                

                SOMEONE THREW A
                                STONE through the studio window of an immigrant
                        painter named Michael Califano. The next day, three men came to the door. It
                        was May 16, 1935, in New York City. The men asked to see some postcards of
                        Califano’s anti-Nazi painting, The Ignominy of
                                the Twentieth Century. The postcards were being sold
                        to benefit Jewish refugees. The painting, which had been exhibited at the
                        Independents’ Show in Grand Central Palace, showed Hitler expelling Einstein
                        from Germany; near Hitler was an iron fist holding a bloody
                    knife.

                Califano turned to get the postcards, and the men grabbed him,
                        beat him, and tied him to a steam pipe. One put the muzzle of a gun in his
                        mouth and told him to be quiet. They began slashing his paintings. They
                        slashed Einstein, Rudolph Valentino, and Adolph Ochs, publisher of The New York Times. They spared the
                        image of Hitler. Califano fainted. A neighbor found him unconscious but
                        alive, hanging from the pipe. He was taken to a hospital. He’d been planning
                        on exhibiting his paintings at the World Jewish Congress.

                

                TEN THOUSAND
                                PEOPLE marched up Fifth Avenue from Washington Square
                        Park. They carried signs that said: NO NATION
                                CAN AFFORD BOTH WAR AND CIVILIZATION and PROMOTE JAPANESE FRIENDSHIP. The
                        Women’s International League for Peace and Freedom formed a “marching war
                        cemetery,” and there was a sort of float: a turf graveyard of white crosses
                        with two mourners, a mother and child, and a sign that said, WHAT PRICE GLORY?

                Among those leading the march were two famous religious
                        leaders—John Haynes Holmes of the Community Church (the admirer of Gandhi)
                        and Rabbi Stephen Wise of the Free Synagogue—along with leaders of other
                        denominations, a group of Quakers, and some socialists carrying red banners.
                        A dog wore a sign that said, I’M NOT GOING TO
                                BE A WAR DOG.

                The crowd turned onto Twenty-sixth Street, then went down
                        Madison Avenue to Union Square, where three hundred policemen stood in lines
                        keeping order. Socialist Charles Solomon told the crowd that capitalism
                        breeds imperialism, “which is the parent of those international frictions
                        that cause war.” John Haynes Holmes promised that the jails would overflow
                        if war came, and he led the crowd in a pledge:

                
                    If war comes I will not fight.

                    If war comes I will not enlist.

                    If war comes I will not be conscripted.

                    If war comes I will do nothing to support
                            it.

                    If war comes I will do everything to oppose
                            it.

                    So help me God.

                

                It was May 18, 1935.

                

                BENITO
                            MUSSOLINI wanted an empire
                        like the British had. He gave a demonstration of Italy’s military resources,
                        in advance of a planned annexation of Ethiopia. It was May 18, 1935. Bombs,
                        poison gases, smoke screens, and flamethrowers were all on display in Rome
                        before an admiring crowd. “Signor Mussolini himself took a hand and
                        displayed considerable skill in throwing hand grenades, showing he had not
                        forgotten the lessons he learned in the war,” wrote The New York Times.

                

                LEO ROSTEN, a young writer and teacher,
                        published an article for Harper’s
                                Magazine. Never had the peace movement been so visible
                        and so articulate, Rosten observed, and yet militarism was on the upsurge.
                        Why? Because murderousness was “deeply encysted” in the human personality.
                        “Man’s primitivism vibrates to the call of militarism because it recognizes,
                        through no ‘conscious’ mechanism, opportunities for murder, sadism, and
                        violence,” Rosten wrote. Think, he said, of those veterans of the Great War
                        who cheerfully recalled “the time I ripped that Hun open.”

                
                    The vast majority of men enjoy seeing two
                            prize fighters batter each other into a gratifying pulp, or take a
                            perverse pleasure in “lynching a nigger,” or are thrilled at the
                            opportunity to bash in the head of a “radical,” a conscientious objector
                            or, more recently, a Jew.

                

                To stop war, we needed to do several things, Rosten
                        believed. We needed to reduce poverty, and we needed to produce more peace
                        petitions and more muckraking articles about corrupt munitions makers. We
                        also needed to offer convincing war substitutes—football, boxing, the
                        Olympics, the World Court, the National Recovery Administration—arenas of
                        conflict in which people could participate in group glories without millions
                        dying.

                The title of Rosten’s article was “Men Like War.” It was July
                        1935.

                

                JOHN
                            HAYNES HOLMES’S antiwar play, If This Be Treason, had its world
                        premiere in Westport, Connecticut. It was July 29, 1935.

                In the play’s first act, Japanese ships make a surprise attack
                        on the American fleet at Manila. The newly inaugurated president of the
                        United States, pledged to pacifism, decides not to counterattack. Amid cries
                        for blood and vengeance, and at risk of impeachment, President Gordon flies
                        unarmed to Japan in a private plane. The Japanese people, touched by this
                        bold gesture, revolt nonviolently against their militaristic leader, install
                        a populist named Koyé, and everything turns out fine.

                Holmes wrote the drama with the help of a minor playwright
                        named Reginald Lawrence. He based his plot, he said, on Gandhi’s visit to
                        England in 1931.

                “They have managed to achieve moments of such dramatic
                        intensity,” wrote the New York
                            Times reviewer, “that the audience tonight was frequently
                        fired to applause.” Luigi Pirandello was in the audience, and so was George
                        M. Cohan.

                Later, Asahi Shimbun,
                        a major Tokyo paper, carried an article about the play. There was a long
                        review in The Nation and praise in
                            The Times of London. The play
                        ran for six weeks at the Music Box Theater in New York and was then
                        forgotten.

                “It has been to me an innocent source of pride that my play
                        anticipated, point by point, the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor,” Holmes
                        later wrote.

                

                A NAZI
                            PARTY propagandist in Bavaria filed a report. The
                        anti-Semitic campaign in his district was making no headway, he said. “Every
                        child learns about the Jewish menace; anti-Semitic propaganda is delivered
                        in lectures everywhere,” he wrote. Anti-Jewish posters and issues of Der Stürmer were prominently on view.
                        “And despite all this, the campaigns have not the slightest success,” he
                        said. “The peasants do not wish to sever their ties with Jews.”

                It was October 1935.

                

                THE GOVERNOR OF NEW
                                YORK, Herbert Lehman, asked President Roosevelt to
                        increase the Jewish immigration quota. It was November 1, 1935.

                “The type of immigration from Germany is of the highest,”
                        Lehman wrote Roosevelt. “I have met many of those who have come over here in
                        recent months and they have impressed me as very much the type of men like
                        my father, Carl Schurz, and other Germans who came over here in the days of
                        1848 and who later were among our best citizens.” Lehman mentioned the
                        current immigration quota from Germany, which was twenty-five thousand. In
                        recent years, however, only 2,500 of the spaces in that quota had been
                        filled, Lehman said, and he passed on a request from banker Felix Warburg
                        and others: “They ask that the immigration quota of German Jews to this
                        country be increased from 2,500 to 5,000. This, of course, is almost a
                        negligible number.”

                Roosevelt’s stiff reply—drafted by the State Department—said
                        that there was no immigration quota for “persons in the class described.”
                        The State Department had, however, issued 5,117 immigration visas to natives
                        of Germany in 1935: Felix Warburg’s request was thus already granted. Anyone
                        who sought to escape from the conditions of the country of their regular
                        residence would receive, Roosevelt said, “the most considerate attention and
                        the most generous and favorable treatment possible under the laws of this
                        country.”

                

                THE U.S.
                            GOVERNMENT released its
                        monthly statistical summary of licensed arms sales to foreign governments.
                        Under the provisions of the Neutrality Act, all arms sales had to have the
                        approval of the Munitions Control Board of the State Department.

                China was again, in February 1936, the largest purchaser of
                        arms, followed by Chile, followed by Germany. China had bought airplanes,
                        tanks, and ammunition. Germany bought “non-military” aircraft, revolvers,
                        and ammunition.

                

                IN A
                            LONDON COURTROOM, Sir Harry
                        McGowan, the chairman of Imperial Chemical Industries—Winston Churchill’s
                        friend and investment adviser—sat before a royal commission that was
                        investigating the armaments trade. It was February 6, 1936.

                McGowan was asked about the sales of arms to opposing
                        nations—to China and Japan, for instance. “I have no objection to selling
                        arms to both sides,” McGowan answered. “I am not a purist in these things.”
                        Imperial Chemical Industries wasn’t, McGowan said, producing any war gasses
                        at the moment—but they could begin at any time, at the government’s
                        request.

                The company broke ground on a new mustard-gas factory in
                        Lancashire later that year.

                

                ALDOUS
                            HUXLEY, a novelist and
                        prominent member of the British Peace Pledge Union, wrote an article for
                            Time and Tide about “collective
                        security”—the idea that groups of countries should band together to threaten
                        belligerent dictatorships with violent consequences.

                Was it of any use, Huxley wondered, to have a large bomber
                        force at hand to deter a dictator from doing objectionable things? No, it
                        wasn’t, because a dictator may well weigh risk very differently from the way
                        we expect him to. “If he is crazy, he doesn’t perceive the risk. If he is
                        coldly Machiavellian, he sees that in desperate circumstances he personally
                        may risk less by going to war than by submitting to the threats of foreign
                        governments.”

                It may be very difficult, Huxley admitted, to keep some
                        nations from attacking others. “What is quite certain is that threatening
                        them with war if they do so or making war upon them, even with a collective
                        bombing force, will not achieve what is desired,” he wrote. “An evil act
                        always produces further evil acts.”

                It was March 7, 1936.

                

                ON MUSSOLINI’S ORDERS, Italian
                        airplanes dropped gas bombs on Ethiopia. “Beginning at 7:30 A.M., a squadron of seven bombers
                        dropped steel containers, some containing phosgene and others mustard gas,”
                        reported The New York Times.
                        “Several fell among peasant huts.” It was March 16, 1936.

                A month later, Walter Holmes, a reporter for The Times of London, wrote about a
                        new means of Italian attack on Ethiopian troops and civilians: aerial
                        spraying. “From a fine rain of corrosive liquid descending from the planes
                        there seems to be little protection, unless possibly something in the nature
                        of a diving suit were devised,” he wrote. Consequently, a large number
                        subjected to this form of attack received ghastly injuries on the head, face
                        and upper parts of the body.”

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL published an
                        article in the Evening Standard
                        called “How to Stop War.” It was June 12, 1936.

                Fine speeches were useless, Churchill said, and platitudes
                        were a crime. There was only one way to stop war, and that was through
                        military might. “Safety will only come,” he wrote, “through a combination of
                        pacific nations armed with overwhelming power, and capable of the same
                        infinity of sacrifice, and indeed of the ruthlessness, which hitherto have
                        been the attributes of the warrior mind.”

                

                THE EMPEROR
                            OF ETHIOPIA,
                        Haile Selassie, walked to the podium of the League of Nations in Geneva,
                        Switzerland. It was June 30, 1936.

                Selassie began arranging his papers to speak. Suddenly, from
                        the press gallery, came noise and confusion. “Led by a red-faced man with a
                        bull voice the Fascisti hurled execrations and abuse,” The New York Times reported. “Several
                        mechanical whistles were turned loose.” Police removed the disturbers, and
                        the emperor spoke.

                He described the gas bombing of his people. First the Italians
                        used tear gas, then barrels of mustard gas. Neither of these methods was
                        very effective. Then came the battle for Makale, in northern Ethiopia.
                        “Special sprayers were installed on board aircraft so they could vaporize
                        over vast areas of territory a fine, death dealing rain,” the emperor
                        said.

                
                    Groups of nine, fifteen or eighteen
                            aircraft followed one another so that the fog issuing from them formed a
                            continuous sheet. It was thus that, as from the end of January, 1936,
                            soldiers, women, children, cattle, rivers, lakes and pastures were
                            drenched continually with this deadly rain.

                

                The aircraft passed over again and again, in order to
                        be sure to poison the water. “The deadly rain that fell from the aircraft
                        made all those whom it touched fly shrieking with pain,” said Selassie. “All
                        those who drank poisoned water or ate infected food also succumbed in
                        dreadful suffering. In tens of thousands the victims of Italian mustard gas
                        fell.”

                

                NEWSPAPERS
                            IN TOKYO all
                        carried the same lead story: the U.S. government was loaning one hundred
                        million yuan to China so that China could buy American armaments. It was
                        July 21, 1936.

                According to one document, Arthur Campbell, a representative
                        of the Treasury Department, had recently brought a draft trade agreement
                        with him to China. In it, the United States agreed to buy twenty-six million
                        dollars’ worth of silver from China, and China agreed to buy airplanes,
                        ships, oil, tractors, and railroad equipment from the United States.
                        Campbell was going to be staying on in China as an adviser.

                If the reports of the arms deal were true, said an official
                        from the Japanese Foreign Office, the Japanese government could not remain
                        indifferent.

                

                HENRY
                            “CHIPS” CHANNON, a conservative member of
                        the British Parliament, went to Hermann Goering’s party at the Ministerium
                        in Berlin. It was August 13, 1936, during the Olympic Games. Goering,
                        “wreathed in smiles and orders and decorations,” seated Channon and his wife
                        at a table with the future queen of Greece. There were more than seven
                        hundred guests. After dinner, some dancers performed a ballet in the
                        moonlight—“the loveliest coup-d’oeil imaginable,” thought Channon—and then,
                        at the end of the garden, a procession suddenly appeared, of white horses,
                        donkeys, and peasants. The guests followed them into a private amusement
                        park. “There has never been anything like this since the days of Louis
                        Quatorze,” someone said. “Goebbels,” Channon noted in his diary, “was in
                        despair with jealousy.”

                Of Goering himself, Channon said, “People say that he can be
                        very hard and ruthless, as are all Nazis when occasion demands, but
                        outwardly he seems all vanity and childish love of display.”

                

                A SUBCOMMITTEE of English planners thought about a
                        future air war with Germany. “If our attacks could demoralise the German
                        people, by methods similar to those we foresee the Germans themselves using
                        against us, their Government might be forced to desist from this type of
                        attack,” the war planners wrote. The difficulty, however, was that London
                        was easier to find and hit than landlocked Berlin. “Moreover, a military
                        dictatorship is likely to be less susceptible to popular outcry than a
                        democratic Government.” Therefore, bombing the German people in the
                        expectation that they would make an outcry and overthrow their government
                        probably wasn’t going to work. It was October 26, 1936.

                

                ALBERT
                            WEDEMEYER, a handsome
                        captain in the U.S. Army, went to Berlin to study advanced strategy and
                        tactics at the German War College. He and his wife had traveled from Fort
                        Leavenworth, Kansas, where Wedemeyer, a West Point graduate, had studied
                        military science at the Command and General Staff School. Classes began in
                        October 1936.

                Wedemeyer rented an apartment from a man named Rossbach, who
                        had been a close friend of Ernst Röhm, the pederastic chief of the storm
                        troopers, whom Hitler had had executed in 1934. Rossbach gave a party and
                        invited Wedemeyer. Goering, Hess, Bormann, Ley, and other top Nazis were
                        there, as was Goebbels—“a dynamo with a brain,” Wedemeyer called
                    him.

                At the German War College, Wedemeyer studied the campaigns of
                        Frederick the Great, Napoleon, Caesar, Alexander, and Philip of Macedon.
                        That curriculum wasn’t too different from what he’d just been through at
                        Fort Leavenworth, where they’d studied Frederick the Great, Napoleon,
                        Caesar, Alexander, and Philip of Macedon. But the Germans were better
                        teachers, and their military science was more purposeful. “One of the map
                        problems given while I was a student in Berlin involved a hypothetical
                        attack against Czechoslovakia,” Wedemeyer wrote. “Later, it developed that
                        the problem was not so hypothetical.”

                When he got to school in the morning, there were women
                        cleaning the halls on their hands and knees. They threw up their right arms
                        and said, “Heil Hitler.” Wedemeyer saluted back and said, “Heil Roosevelt.”
                        The cleaning women thought this was funny, and they eventually began
                        greeting Wedemeyer with “Heil Roosevelt.”

                “To which I replied ‘Heil Hitler.’”

                

                CAPTAIN
                            PHILIP S. MUMFORD, a former British officer
                        in Iraq, joined the Peace Pledge Union. He gave a speech about why. “What is
                        the difference between throwing 500 babies into a fire and throwing fire
                        from aeroplanes on 500 babies?” he asked. “There is none.”

                It was January 5, 1937.

                

                IN POLAND, right-wing nationalists
                        rioted, beating up Jews. The budget committee of the Polish Parliament in
                        Warsaw had a meeting. The Jews of eastern Europe had a dark economic future,
                        a Colonel Meidzinski warned, because there weren’t enough jobs for them all.
                        “The Polish government, in trying to find an outlet for its surplus
                        population, has in mind the Jews first of all. We would appreciate the Jews
                        if we had 50,000 of them,” he said. “Our negative attitude is caused by the
                        fact that there are 3,000,000. A change in this abnormal situation is the
                        only way to a solution of the thorny Jewish problem.”

                Colonel Józef Beck, the Polish foreign minister, said that
                        immigration to Palestine wasn’t enough. “Without giving up Palestine as an
                        outlet for our Jewish surplus,” the colonel said, “we must treat our problem
                        on a wider basis.”

                Another member of Parliament, Deputy Minzberg, criticized the
                        notion of treating Jews as if they were surplus goods available for
                        export.

                It was January 13, 1937.

                

                A DELEGATION
                            FROM WARSAW
                        went to Madagascar, an island off the coast of Africa that once had been a
                        center of the slave trade. The Polish government was talking to the French
                        government about whether Polish Jews could be sent to Madagascar, which was
                        at the time a French colony. The delegation—including a colonization expert
                        from Tel Aviv and the director of the Jewish Emigrant Aid Society—reported,
                        according to The New York Times,
                        that “the central plateau was quite suitable for settling white men of the
                        peasant type.” It was 1937.

                Others pointed out later, however, that there wasn’t much
                        territory left on the plateau, and that the lowland was “unfit for white
                        habitation.”

                

                A DENTIST
                            FROM NEW
                            YORK, Dr. Howard Blake,
                        talked with Rafael Trujillo, president of the Dominican Republic. Blake was
                        representing the American Jewish Congress. He and Trujillo were trying to
                        determine whether one million eastern European Jews could move to Trujillo’s
                        country. It was January 1937.

                Blake toured the proposed area of resettlement with the
                        president’s engineering aide and the secretary of agriculture. The island
                        was, Blake said, a “veritable paradise.”

                President Trujillo wrote a letter to Rabbi Stephen Wise,
                        president of the American Jewish Congress. “The Dominican people and
                        government, over which I have the honor to preside, received the proposal
                        with the greatest sympathy,” Trujillo said, “and expect to be able to offer
                        a hospitable reception to that immigration of Jewish agriculturalists whom
                        you propose to bring to my country to dedicate themselves to the land and
                        development of industrial enterprises.”

                Trujillo wanted Jewish immigrants because they were white:
                        Later that year, Trujillo’s troops massacred twelve thousand Haitian
                        peasants because they were black.

                

                TWENTY
                            THOUSAND cheering people were in Madison Square Garden. It
                        was March 15, 1937, at an anti-Nazi rally and boycott-Germany night. A big
                        banner onstage showed a workingman using pliers to crush a swastika. Rabbi
                        Stephen Wise spoke on the menace of Hitlerism, Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia said
                        a few sentences, and so did the head of the CIO labor union. Joseph
                        Tenenbaum, chairman of a coalition that was advocating the boycott of German
                        goods, said that the four years since Hitler and his cabal had come to power
                        had been a “nightmare of dread terror and savagery.” And the nightmare was
                        coming to the United States:

                
                    Every German boat anchoring on our shores
                            discharges a fresh cargo of Nazi rats which spread the bubonic plague of
                            anti-Semitism and racial hatred, and nibble away at the fundamentals of
                            our great commonwealth.

                

                “No one is safe from the Nazi holocaust,” Tenenbaum
                        said.

                

                STANLEY
                            BALDWIN, prime minister of
                        England, said to a deputation of peace workers, “I know some of you think I
                        should speak more roughly to Hitler than I do, but have you reflected that
                        the reply to a stiff letter might be a bomb on your breakfast tables?” There
                        was, Baldwin said, no Christian public opinion in Europe to which England
                        could appeal. “The peace of the world lies in the hands of these dictators.
                        For all I know they may be insane, and unlimited power drives men mad.” It
                        was March 21, 1937.

                

                THE NATIONAL COUNCIL of Jewish Women had a meeting in Utica,
                        New York. Baruch Braunstein, a rabbi from Allentown, Pennsylvania, who
                        directed the Jewish division of the Emergency Peace Campaign, asked the
                        delegates to think about what the Great War had done. The Great War “turned
                        three-fifths of Europe back to the middle ages,” Braunstein said. “We went
                        to war to save democracy and our experience has been that democracy has died
                        a thousand deaths.” The next war, he said, would be even more destructive,
                        and it would be “co-educational.”

                The Council of Jewish Women resolved to oppose conscription
                        and to urge arms limitation, neutrality, and the elimination of military
                        drill in schools. It was April 13, 1937.

                

                THE CHURCH
                            BELLS in Guernica began ringing. It was market day,
                        Monday, at 4:30 P.M., on April
                        28, 1937. German pilots were in the air. They wore the badge of the Kondor
                        Legion: a condor plunging earthward with a bomb held in its
                    claws.

                They were over the town for three hours. The curate of the
                        Church of Santa Maria de Guernica wrote: “Before God and my country I bear
                        witness that the airplanes threw incendiary bombs.” The Times of London wrote: “The whole town of
                        7,000 inhabitants, plus 3,000 refugees, was slowly and systematically
                        pounded to pieces.” A reporter for the Daily
                                Mail wrote: “A sight that haunted me for weeks was the
                        charred bodies of several women and children huddled together in what had
                        been the cellar of a house. It had been a refugio.”

                Later Hermann Goering said that Guernica had been a testing
                        ground for the Luftwaffe. “It was a pity,” he said, “but we could not do
                        otherwise, as we had nowhere else to try out our machines.”

                

                RICHARD
                            BREITING, the editor who had
                        interviewed Hitler at the Brown House, was asked, in 1937, to travel from
                        Leipzig to Berlin, to appear at Goebbels’s propaganda ministry. He had
                        already been questioned several times, and he’d been accused of being a
                        “Jewish lackey.” Two agents took him out to a restaurant for a talk. By the
                        time he got back home, he was feverish. He began having convulsions. He
                        suspected poison, he told his family. When he died, the attending physician
                        refused to perform an autopsy. Breiting’s body was cremated.

                

                WINSTON
                            CHURCHILL was readying his
                        book Great Contemporaries for the
                        press. It was August 1937. In it was his article on Hitler, written a few
                        years earlier. “Those who have met Herr Hitler face to face in public
                        business or on social terms,” he said, “have found a highly competent, cool,
                        well-informed functionary with an agreeable manner, a disarming smile, and
                        few have been unaffected by a subtle personal magnetism.” Despite the arming
                        of Germany and the hounding of the Jews, “we may yet live to see Hitler a
                        gentler figure in a happier age,” Churchill wrote. He was doubtful,
                        though.

                Churchill also included a short piece on Leon Trotsky, king in
                        exile of international bolshevism. Trotsky was a usurper and tyrant,
                        Churchill said. He was a cancer bacillus, he was a “skin of malice,” washed
                        up on the shores of Mexico. Trotsky possessed, said Churchill,

                
                    the organizing command of a Carnot, the
                            cold detached intelligence of a Machiavelli, the mob oratory of a Cleon,
                            the ferocity of Jack the Ripper, the toughness of Titus
                        Oates.

                

                And in the end what was Trotsky? Who was he? “He was a
                        Jew,” wrote Churchill with finality. “He was still a Jew. Nothing could get
                        over that.” He called his article “Leon Trotsky, Alias Bronstein.”

                

                THE JAPANESE government announced that
                        it was disturbed by a report that 182 American airmen, each accompanied by
                        two mechanics, were going to be flying warplanes in China. The enlistment of
                        Americans was at odds with America’s recently expressed hopes for peace in
                        northern China, said the Japanese statement, and was in violation of the
                        American Neutrality Act. It was August 5, 1937.

                

                HALLETT
                            ABEND, the New York Times correspondent, was
                        sitting in a car outside Wing On’s, Shanghai’s largest department store. It
                        was August 23, 1937.

                Abend’s assistant, Anthony Billingham, was inside buying field
                        glasses. Abend, smoking a cigarette, noticed that some Chinese pedestrians
                        were looking at the sky. A moment afterward, a large bomb hit the department
                        store. “The worst part of a bombing experience,” Abend wrote in his China
                        memoir, “is that period of utter paralysis which follows the
                        concussions.”

                
                    For as much as four minutes, if the bomb is
                            a big one, nothing moves except swirling smoke and thick dust, and there
                            is no sound except the continued tinkle of falling broken glass and the
                            rumble of crumbling masonry. After about four minutes the wounded begin
                            to moan and shriek and try to drag themselves away.

                

                Abend, limping, hurried through the dim department
                        store in search of his assistant. At the field-glasses counter on the second
                        floor, he found two Chinese corpses. Back at the car, he discovered
                        Billingham crumpled in the backseat, with a flayed left arm and arterial
                        blood spouting from his armpit. “I threw the car into low gear,” Abend
                        wrote, “and started carefully up the street, avoiding the helpless wounded
                        but of necessity sometimes driving crunchingly over the scattered
                        dead.”

                The bomb that hit Wing On’s department store—a single
                        750-pound fragmentation bomb, made in Italy—was, as it turned out, not
                        dropped by a Japanese plane. A Chinese air-force pilot, alarmed at the sight
                        of three Japanese pursuit fighters, released his load so that he could climb
                        to safety at twenty thousand feet.

                Billingham recovered.

                

                JAPAN
                            INSTITUTED a naval blockade against Chinese ships.
                        “Peaceful commerce carried on by third powers will be fully respected,” the
                        Japanese government said. It was August 28, 1937.

                A freighter, the Wichita, owned by the U.S. government was on its
                        way to China carrying bombing planes and barbed wire, according to the
                        Associated Press. There were those who wondered whether the Japanese would
                        regard this shipment as “peaceful commerce,” the reporter wrote.

                

                CHINESE
                            AIRPLANES tried to destroy a group of Japanese ships with
                        hundred-pound bombs. It was August 30, 1937.

                A large American vessel, the President Hoover, filled with Americans leaving
                        China, was anchored at the mouth of the Yangtze River. One of the Chinese
                        pilots thought the Hoover was a
                        Japanese troopship and dove to bomb it. Other Chinese planes followed. One
                        crewmember was killed by flying shrapnel, and several passengers and crew
                        were injured. A niece of Generalissimo and Madame Chiang Kai-shek was on
                        board the boat.

                Madame Chiang Kai-shek, secretary-general of aviation, was
                        horrified. She summoned her husband’s pilot, an American named Royal
                        Leonard. “I want you to take charge of all Chinese bombardment,” Madame
                        Chiang said.

                Royal Leonard said he would be happy to take charge of Chinese
                        bombardment. In Hankow, Leonard and another American, Julius Barr, founded a
                        new, better bombing school with a hundred students. A thousand laborers
                        helped to improve the airfield. “Working day and night, each carrying
                        material in baskets suspended from the ends of their yo-yo poles, they built
                        a paved runway one thousand yards long in a few days,” Leonard
                        recalled.

                

                CHURCHILL
                            FOUND that he still nursed admiring feelings for
                        Mussolini. “It would be a dangerous folly for the British people to
                        underrate the enduring position in world-history which Mussolini will hold,”
                        he wrote in the News of the World,
                        “or the amazing qualities of courage, comprehension, self-control and
                        perseverance which he exemplifies.”

                It was October 10, 1937.

                

                BOOM
                            TRENCHARD invited Churchill
                        to a party for a delegation of German air-force officers. It was October 11,
                        1937.

                “I have asked them privately to dinner at Brooks’s Club on
                        20th October at 8:15 p.m. to meet only unofficials,” Trenchard said.
                        Camrose, Kindersley, Weir, Amery, and others would be there, he said—could
                        he, Churchill, come? “I hope you
                            will, because I think it might amuse you and interest them
                        enormously.”

                Churchill went to the private party for the German air
                        force.

                

                JOSEPH C.
                            HYMAN, of the Joint
                        Distribution Committee, a Jewish relief organization, gave a speech in
                        Pittsburgh. “It is vitally necessary to send funds immediately to get our
                        people out of Germany as soon as possible,” Hyman said. But Germany wasn’t
                        their only problem.

                
                    In Poland, though nominally protected by
                            the constitution and the public law, only too often the Jewish
                            population of over 3,000,000 souls are the victims of pogrom, riot,
                            assault, boycott; only too openly the objects of a strong and
                            effectively directed propaganda, which has one leit-motif—out with the
                            Jews!

                

                And in Romania, anti-Semitism “takes on a brutality of
                        action and frequently a venomousness of expression which makes effective
                        comparison with Nazi Germany,” Hyman said.

                It was October 17, 1937.

                

                ALDOUS
                            HUXLEY was in Hollywood
                        writing Ends and Means, an inquiry
                        into the philosophy of nonviolence. It was 1937.

                The international police force that people were clamoring for
                        was a mistake and a misnomer, Huxley believed. “The police act with the
                        maximum of precision; they go out and arrest the guilty person,” he wrote.
                        “Nations and groups of nations act through their armed forces, which can
                        only act with the maximum of imprecision, killing, maiming, starving and
                        ruining millions of human beings, the overwhelming majority of whom have
                        committed no crime of any sort.” An international police force was in
                        actuality a force for international massacre. “If you approve of
                        indiscriminate massacres, then you must say so,” he wrote. “You have no
                        right to deceive the unwary by calling your massacre-force by the same name
                        as the force which controls traffic and arrests burglars.”

                Nonviolence was, Huxley thought, the only intergovernmental
                        response to violence that had any practical chance of working. It worked
                        with nations as it did with individuals:

                
                    We have all seen how anger feeds upon
                            answering anger, but is disarmed by gentleness and patience. We have all
                            known what it is to have our meannesses shamed by somebody else’s
                            magnanimity into an equal magnanimity; what it is to have our dislikes
                            melted away by an act of considerateness; what it is to have our
                            coldnesses and harshnesses transformed into solicitude by the example of
                            another’s unselfishness.

                

                Violence made men worse, Huxley said; nonviolence made
                        them better.

                

                COLONEL
                            CLAIRE CHENNAULT, a retired army flier now
                        working for the Chinese, was in his apartment with Royal Leonard, the
                        bombing instructor. It was sometime in 1937.

                “The room was crowded with American pilots,” Leonard
                        remembered. “The topic under discussion was the immediate bombing of
                        Tokyo.”

                
                    We had the men in that room, all of them
                            experts in piloting and navigation. China had plenty of money with which
                            we could purchase the fast, light Martin bombers.

                

                But the plan was squelched by the Chinese, Leonard
                        said, who didn’t want to risk involving Americans in a Tokyo
                    raid.

                “Oh well,” said Chennault. “It will be batter up sometime!
                        We’ll mow ’em down!”

                The Chinese pilots called Chennault “Leatherface.”

                

                IN LONDON, LORD HALIFAX, the leader of the House of Lords, told
                        his friend Chips Channon about a trip that he’d taken to talk things over
                        with the Nazis. Lord Halifax used to be Lord Irwin, the viceroy of India.
                        Now he was Lord Halifax.

                Channon was eager to hear everything. Lord Halifax told
                        Channon that he had liked all the Nazi leaders—even Goebbels. “He thinks the
                        regime absolutely fantastic, perhaps even too fantastic to be taken
                        seriously,” Channon wrote in his diary.

                Halifax told Channon about Hitler’s black breeches, his
                        patent-leather evening shoes, and his khaki shirt. “I was riveted by all he
                        said,” wrote Channon, “and reluctant to let him go.” It was December 5,
                        1937.

                

                JAPANESE
                                AIRPLANES dropped leaflets over the city of Nanking,
                        China. It was December 7, 1937.

                “We have surrounded the city of Nanking,” the leaflets said.
                        “If your troops continue to fight, war in Nanking is inevitable. The culture
                        that has endured for a millennium will be reduced to ashes, and the
                        government that has lasted for a decade will vanish into thin
                    air.”

                The Japanese waited. There was no reply from within the city.
                        The Japanese bombed, shelled, and went in. Rape and massacre
                        followed.

                Royal Leonard, the American in charge of Chinese bomber
                        command, wrote: “I remember people running along the streets in Nanking, the
                        tops of their heads blown off, their mouths open and shrieking, gushing
                        blood in little fountains, dying as they ran.”

                

                ALBERT
                            SPEER, Hitler’s architect,
                        showed his father the room of the models. The room of the models was a large
                        space set up in the former Berlin Academy of Arts, connected by a passageway
                        to the Reich Chancellery, where Hitler lived. Hitler took guests there after
                        dinner sometimes, to show them his private city, the city of Berlin as it
                        would be, perhaps only after his death. The spotlights would come on,
                        shining at an angle like sunlight on the elaborately rendered streets, the
                        façades, the roofs, the allées of trees—all of them fabricated under Speer’s
                        close supervision. At the end of the grand boulevard in miniature—crowded
                        with miniature movie houses, a new miniature opera house, hotels, and
                        theaters—was to be the great domed assembly hall, inspired by one of
                        Hitler’s sketches. It was to be the biggest domed structure in the history
                        of humanity, sixteen times more voluminous than St. Peter’s, held aloft on
                        ninety-eight-foot-high columns of red stone, surmounting a space that would
                        hold one hundred and fifty thousand standing Reich worshippers.
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